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This Report

Is the first issued by Yarmouk Water Company with the results 
of the full financial year of 2018. Since the Company is under-
going major changes at all administrative and operational levels, 
this report is to reflect, as much as possible, given the short time 
period for preparing it, the status quo of the Company, which 
serves about three million subscribers in four governorates with 
water supply and sanitation. This report is a good start and paves 
the road to the issuance of annual reports in the future with the 
aim of informing stakeholders and the public about the status or 
position of the Company that provides vital, indispensable ser-
vices. Because this report is printed in a limited number of copies, 
a digital version of it is available on the website of the Company. 
This report contains chapters on general performance summaries, 
the operation of the water and sanitation sectors, and the finan-
cial report, annexed to which is the report of the External Auditor 
(for 2018 compared to 2017).
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Yarmouk Water Company is undergoing a profound transformation towards a clear vision and earnest determination to seize 
development opportunities and strengthen its operations in the service area, as envisaged by a company, serving nearly three 
million people in the four governorates. In this context, the effectiveness of the Company’s services is linked to the sustain-
ability of close attention by stakeholders to develop service delivery to the public in terms of sanitation and drinking water 
supply according to specific standards. It suffices to mention here the following facts:

• Since mid-2017, the Company has embarked on the introduction of several financial and administrative systems with a 
view to raising the level of overall performance. These systems, already put in place by officials at headquarters and sub-
sidiary ROUs in all service areas during 2018, will improve the efficiency of the Company’s activities, as well as means 
of monitoring performance.

• The Company developed several policies and regulations during 2018, which were approved by the Board of Directors 
and became effective during that year. These policies and regulations define the responsibilities and duties of the relevant 
administrative levels.

• The Company has started to align its administrative and financial operations with the requirements of supporters in 
order to reach high levels of performance, which will enable it to get the support that will enhance its operational capa-
bilities and improve its provision of services.

• The Company is working on activating ways to improve the water supply to the service areas, and reduce water losses to 
enhance the per capita share of water, as well as continue to expand the sources of water supply to areas of population 
density in the governorate of Irbid in particular.

• The Company has adopted several internal procedures aiming at reducing its operating expenses, which will enable it to 
provide financing for capital expenditures without seeking aid from government or other entities.

The results of the foregoing considerations will be seen in 2019 onwards and they will appear in the annual report for 2019. 



6

Service Coverage Area

Yarmouk Water Company serves the four northern gov-
ernorates (Irbid, Jerash, Ajloun, and Mafraq), in addi-
tion to the Northern Badia. Under the umbrella of the 
Company, Regional Operating Units (ROUs), spread 
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out across the service coverage area, provide services to 
subscribers there. 341 thousand subscribers, represent-
ing 98% of the total population in the service area, are 
supplied with water by the Company, and more than 
141 thousand subscribers, representing 42% of the to-
tal population in the four governorates, are connected 
to sanitation networks.
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NRW 2017 - 2018

Irbid Jerash Ajloun Mafraq North Nadia

37.1

43.9

31

61.6

71.1

36.8 37.5
34.8

62.1
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Highlights

Water Supply Quantity (m3) 2018 

Ajloun
6%

Jerash
9%

North Badia
8%

Mafraq
22%

Irbid
56%

Water Quantity sold (m3) 2018 

Ajloun
8%

Jerash
9%

North Badia
4%

Mafraq
16% Irbid

64%

Fresh Water Supply: Irbid Governorate with a popula-
tion of about two million is supplied with 56% of the 
total fresh water supply to the service area. The remain-
ing portion representing 44% is shared by the three 
other governorates. The share of Mafraq (including the 
Northern Badia) is 30%.  

Water Consumption: Irbid Governorate consumes 
64% of the Company’s total annual water production, 
as it has the largest number of citizens who are connect-
ed to the water supply.  

Water Losses: Mafraq Governorate, including the 
Northern Badia, witnessed a considerable increase in 
the rate of water losses during the two years 2017 and 
2018, whereas at the Company level this rate amounted 
to 45.3% in 2018, after it was 44.3% in 2017. 
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Yearly Drinking Water Production (M3)

2014

2015

2016

2017

2018 94,505,785

88,803,109

86,979,301

84,486,404

82,382,259

Collection & Billing (Million JOD)

2015 2016 2017 2018

27.35

30.11
31.28 30.94

23.79

27.45

30.92
29.4

Collection Million JOD
Billing Million JOD

Soled Water (Million JOD) for 2017 & 2018

Irbid Jerash Ajloun Mafraq

2017
2018

6.68

2.20
2.77

21.28

6.17

2.04
2.61

20.45

Highlights

Accounts Receivable: Accounts receivable (outstand-
ing receivables) collections for the last three years were 
as follows: 
2016 = 110%
2017 = 100%
2018 = 89% 

Production Quantity: The quantity of water produc-
tion has increased over the last four years. The annual 
increase rates were as follows: 
2015 = 2.5% (2.1 million m3)
2016 = 3% (2.5 million m3)
2017 = 2.1% (1.8 million m3)
2018 = 6.4% (5.7 million m3)

Water Sales: In Irbid Governorate, the Company’s wa-
ter sales represent 64.5% of the total quantity of water 
sold in the four governorates. During 2018, Irbid Gov-
ernorate consumed a billed quantity of water amount-
ing to more than 21 million m3, whereas Ajloun Gov-
ernorate consumed less than 2 million m3. 



14

Financial Summaries

Income Statement of 2017 & 2018 (Million JOD)

Electricity Consumption Tariff from 2011 to 2018

16/1/2010-30/6/2011 1/7/2011 - 28/5/2012 29/5/2012 - 4/6/2012 5/6/2012 -14/8/2013 15/8/2013 - 31/12/20131/1/2014 -31/12/2014 1/1/2015 -  15/2/2015 16/2/2015 - 30/4/2015 1/5/2015 - 31/12/2015 1/1/2016 -31/12.2017 1/1/2018 - Now

0.104

0.0940.0940.094
0.1

0.087

0.076

0.0660.066

0.054

0.042

Expense Category 2018

Fixed Asset 
 Depreciation

10%

Overhead 
 Expenses

8%

Operating Expenses 
 & Maintenance

14%

Payroll
23%

Electricity 
45%

Expense Category 2017

Fixed Asset 
 Depreciation

11%

Overhead 
 Expenses

8%

Operating Expenses 
 & Maintenance

17%

Payroll
24%

Electricity 
40%

Expense Category Change Percentage in comparing 2018 to 
2017

Electricity 
expense

Employee 
benefits

O&M 
expenses

Overhead 
expenses

Assets 
depreciation 

12%

19%

-7%

7%

29%

Operating and Administrative Expenses

The total revenue for 2018 increased by 13%, whereas total ex-
penses increased by 16%. As a result, losses of the year rose by 
19%, compared with 2017. The increase in the total expense 
items was caused by electricity consumption that increased by 
approximately 9 million Jordanian dinars, compared with 2017. 
That was a direct result of electricity tariff increases for the water 
sector during 2018, as well as the increasing number of water 
pumping sources. Also, a 7% increase in employee benefits; i.e., 
1.4 million Jordanian dinars, compared with 2017, lead to that 
rise in expenses. 
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Financial Summaries

Income Statement of 2017 & 2018 (Million JOD)

Electricity Consumption Expense (Million JOD)

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

40

30.829.928.6
25.4

18.3
15.7

12.5

Cost Recovery per cent for 2018 & 2017

2017 2108

59%

62%

52%

55%

Cost Recovery - Operational Including Depreciation
Cost Recovery - Operational Excluding Depreciation

Cost Recovery 2017 & 2018 (Million JOD)

2017 2018

81.3
71

42.639

Direct Operational Revenues
Operational Costs, Including Depreciation Expense

Yearly Electricity Consumption Expense (KwH)

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

326318.7313.6
299.3

288.2

255.4247.5245.4

Coverage of Expenses

Total expenses, including all classifications, were twice the total in-
come/ revenue:
2018: expenses totaled 87.6 million Jordanian dinars, versus reve-
nue totaled 43.9 million Jordanian dinars.
2017: expenses totaled 76.1 million Jordanian dinars, versus reve-
nue totaled 39.4 million Jordanian dinars.
 
JOD Million                                              2018 2017
Direct operating revenues  43 39
Operating expenses including depreciation 81 71
Operating expenses excluding depreciation 72 63
Business results – consumption included (39) (32)
Business results – consumption excluded (30) (24)
Coverage of expenses – operating expenses 
including consumption   52% 55%
Coverage of expenses – operating expenses 
excluding consumption   59% 62%

The year 2018 witnessed significant electricity tariff increases, 
which severely affected the business results of the year. The increase 
rate of this expense reached 29%, compared with 2017. In 2018, 
325 million kilowatts of electricity cost 39.8 million Jordanian di-
nars, whereas in 2017, 318.7 million kilowatts of electricity cost 
30.7 million Jordanian dinars.  
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Accumulated Losses (Million JOD)

2011 2018

(189.6)

(11.9)

Owner’s Current Account (Million JOD)

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

42

68

83.5
93.694.7

81.1

95.6

156.5

Accumulated Loss

The Company's cumulative losses at the end of 2018 amounted 
to 190 million Jordanian dinars. The External Auditor has ap-
plied the effect of IFRS 9 (an International Financial Reporting 
Standard) on the accounts receivable, and in 2018 they added an 
approximate amount of 11 million Jordanian dinars to the total 
cumulative amount. Accordingly, the amount of the accumulated 
annual losses has reached at 200 million Jordanian dinars for the 
eight years (2011 – 2018).The annual loss for the year prior to 
the year subject to audit is amortized in the owner's account. As a 
result, the owner's account is reduced by the annual amortization 
amount of losses the owner’s account is affected by the decrease 
in the annual amortization amount of losses, instead of showing 
the loss account containing the cumulative balance since 2011, in 
which a loss of about 12 million Jordanian dinars was realized in 
that year.

Owner’s Current Account

The credit balance of the Company’s owner was about 156.5 mil-
lion Jordanian dinars at the end of 2011, the first full fiscal year 
of the Company's activities in the service area. The balance of the 
account decreased to about 42 million Jordanian dinars in 2018, 
and it will become a debit balance upon amortization of the Com-
pany’s losses for 2018. This will require the owner to reconsider the 
increase in the Company's capital during 2019.

Profitability of the sold cubic meter of water

The average sale price per cubic meter for all sectors is 800 fils, 
compared to 1540 fils as a total cost for that meter. This means that 
the average return is (– 740) fils. Consequently, multiplying that 
amount by the amount of water sold would result in the annual 
value of losses that would prevent capital expenditure planning, 
expansion, service upgrading, and other requirements.

Profitability of the sold cubic meter of water

-0.74

1.54

0.80

Water revenue 
per M3

Direct expense 
per M3

CM per M3
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Owners Equity Account Balance at year end (Million JOD)

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

25.6

22.6

17.5

12.9

18

-54.5

-36.6

Cost of sold water vs cost of NRW (Million JOD)

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

87.6

76.1

65.6
60.8

56.6

45.946.5
38.3 37.033.629.927.426.9

20.3
24.1

18.3

50.6
42.4

35.733.4
29.7

25.622.420.0

Owners Equity – and Increasing the Paid-Up Capital

At the end of 2018, the total equity account balances amounted to 
(- 54.5) million Jordanian dinars, which would require the Water 
Authority, the owner of the Company, to take an action to correct 
that situation, either by increasing the paid-up capital of the Com-
pany or transferring ownership of all or part of the assigned fixed 
assets to the Company.

Cost of Water Losses

By allocating the annual total annual expenses to the cost of water 
sold and the cost of water loss, the result indicates that the cost of 
non-revenue water production totaled about 92% of the realized 
loss for 2017, and 85% of the realized loss for 2018.
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Operational Summaries

Customer Count

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

274,516
288,948

304,558
318,927

331,661 340,792

Yearly per cent Change in Sales & Collection

2016 2017 2018

13.3%

11.2%

-5.2%

0.0%

4.7%

2.9%

Sales
Collection

The Company is obliged to mobilize its full working capacity to 
serve its subscribers round the clock in the areas of water supply 
and sanitation. The performance of the Company, tackled from 
different angles in this report, does meet the set objectives, though 
it needs to be improved.   

Approximately 64% of the Company's workforce is directly en-
gaged in operational activities. When the ratio of customer service 
personnel is added, the percentage rises to 87%. The administra-
tive staff at headquarters and service areas, who lead the Company’s 
operations, develop its plans and supervise its performance, cover 
the other 13%. 

In 2018, Irbid Governorate alone was provided with 55.8% of the 
total water supply for that year, while the other three governorates 
(Jerash, Ajloun and Mafraq) received the remaining 44.2%. The 
volume of water supply differs from quarter to quarter. In the sec-
ond and third quarters of the year, water supply is higher than that 
in the first and fourth quarters. This is due to the high volume of 
water consumption in the summer. The water supply service of a 
large area is not typical, and it is faced with challenges from time to 
time. Of these challenges are water network breakdowns, and in-
terruptions in water supply, or any other challenges that hinder the 
sustainability or regularity of services. These obstacles are normally 
met with different responses by the Company. In 2018, a total of 
141815 complaints were registered. Of these, 97979 were caused 
by malfunctions in sporadic blockages, 27542 were caused by mal-
functions in the water network, 109 were caused by pollution, and 
161815 were caused by malfunctions in the sewage system. The 
share of Irbid Governorate was 119678 complaints and the share 
of the remaining governorates was 22137 complaints. Water com-
plaints are inevitable, since problems are due to numerous or even 
countless reasons. It is the responsibility of the Company to deal 
with this situation, though. 
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Operational Summaries

Yearly Water Supply (MCM)

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

73.36

81.87 84.27
87.38

90.64
96.41

Increase per cent of yearly water supply

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

10.40%

2.85%
3.56% 3.60%

5.98%

In Irbid in 2017, the response time of the technical teams for pipe 
breakage was about 30 minutes, for blockages was about 13 min-
utes, and for sewage breakdowns was about an hour. However, in 
2018, the response time was about 2 hours for pipe breakage, 3 
hours for blockages, and 1.5 hours for sewage breakdowns. The 
Company recorded a response time for all types of complaints with 
an average of 1.5 hours in 2018. Raising the level of human perfor-
mance at all levels, and investing the necessary funds for operation, 
have led to the desired result of increasing the “service coverage ra-
tio” to 99% for the drinking water network, in spite of the increase 
in the rate of losses [over the last two years]. This rate reached 
44.3% in 2017, which increased to 45.3% in 2018.

Improving operational performance, empowering the Company's 
employees, building their capacity, and providing them with mod-
ern technologies and equipment, as well as the 4.5% rise in the 
price index during 2018, resulted in an increase in operating and 
maintenance expenses for that year. The increase rate was 19% 
higher than that in 2017. The electricity bill within operating ex-
penses increased at a rate of 30%, due to the increase in water 
production and in supply sources, in addition to the continuous 
increase in electricity prices. Salaries of workers, within operating 
expenses, increased in 2018 by 7%. Compared to 2017, revenues 
improved in 2018 by 13%, leading to an increase in the value of 
total revenues to approximately 44 million Jordanian dinars; i.e., 
an increase of more than 5 million Jordanian dinars resulting from 
the additional revenues for the combined revenue items.

The operational performance of the water, sanitation and customer 
service divisions are addressed in the following section or parts of 
this report. The performance of each sector is discussed, indicating 
aspects of progress and points of weakness, if any. The title specifi-
cally indicates the overall operating performance of the Company.
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Message from the

General Manager

Eng. Nabeel al-Zoubi

The water situation in Jordan in general and in the northern gover-
norates in particular requires exerting the utmost efforts, harness-
ing all available resources, and working hard, systematically and 
continuously, in search for water resources, so as to meet the in-
creasing day-by-day and year-over-year demand, in light of the on-
going expansion of urban areas and continuing population growth 
as a natural and coercive result.

Technological development has become an obsession that must 
be matched by the implementation of projects or the provision of 
services that will serve the interests of the Company as well as the 
citizens, in line with the development in various sectors, including 
water and sanitation services.

As an integral part of the water sector, Yarmouk Water Company 
manages water resources and carries out the necessary maintenance 
and operation activities related to drinking water supplies, in ad-
dition to the collection and purification of wastewater in a large 
area representing about one third of the size of Jordan to serve at 
least 2.7 million inhabits, despite the fact that many challenges and 
difficulties represented by the lack of water and financial resources, 
the volume of the energy bill, operating costs and expenses, and 
the continuous increase in the number of customers, worsen year 
by year.

Through the sincere work and solid determination of the staff of 
the Company, and the support of the donors, organizations, and 
bodies, in addition to careful planning, we aspire to overcome all 
obstacles and difficulties and translate all of this for bringing about 
a paradigm shift in all areas of work and establishing a model to 
be built on for the welfare of future generations, thus realizing the 
royal vision for achieving development in the services delivered to 
the citizens of this great country under its leadership and people.
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Message from the

Chairman

The main challenges facing the water sector in general and Yar-
mouk Water Company in particular are the scarcity of water re-
sources, the spatial divergence of population centers, and the lack 
of financial resources needed for the implementation of major pro-
jects that are meant to serve the northern region which comprises 
four governorates. Given resource shortages and the steady annual 
increase in water demand, the water and sanitation sector is con-
sidered as one of the most complex sectors in terms of managing 
and performing activities pertaining to costly operational require-
ments, permanent maintenance, laboratory monitoring, and im-
mediate treatment. 

Yarmouk Water Company works on the operation, maintenance 
and distribution of water in the north of Jordan and has to handle 
large volumes of work to deliver its services to citizens within a 
geographically diverse terrain. Difficult conditions of work in that 
area require the Company to exert double efforts, in addition to 
the need to rehabilitate many of the old lines and networks that 
have been implemented for tens of years to serve a certain number 
of people, which no longer meet the needs of the increasing popu-
lation and customers of the service. The required large funds to op-
erate sufficient additional water sources, the establishment of new 
stations and modern pumps with greater capacity, the expansion of 
the implementation of main and branch lines, and the increase in 
energy consumption pose a real challenge to the Company. 

Within its policy and strategic planning, the Company prioritiz-
es the executive plan for the years 2018-2025. This plan includes 
reducing water losses in all its forms, which amounted to 45%, 
through the rehabilitation of old and damaged networks, the ac-
tivation of permanent control over illegal water uses, the rapid 
response to the maintenance of networks, tightening controls on 
reading meters, reducing the energy bill through the implemen-
tation of alternative energy projects to operate the main water re-
sources, and reducing as much as possible the operational costs by 
activating programs and financial and computerized systems in all 
areas of the Company's work.

Eng. Tawfeeg Habashneh
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Members of Board of Directors

Eng. Hussien BaniHani
Irbid Municipality Myor

Dr. Hani AbuHassan,
Chairman of Irbid Industry Chamber

Eng. Iyad Dahiyat
WAJ SG

The Board of Directors of the Company consists of seven members, three of whom are from the public sector and four 
from the private sector, who are appointed by the Board of Directors of the Water Authority for a maximum of four years 
in accordance with the provisions of the Company's Articles of Association. The Board of Directors of the Company shall 
elect from among its members the Chairman and Vice Chairman of the Board of Directors. The Board of Directors formu-
lates and supervises the Company's higher level policies and is accountable to the General Assembly. The Board has powers 
prescribed in relevant regulations, of which are the appointment of the Company’s General Manager and determining the 
powers granted to him. During 2018, the Company’s Board of Directors was composed of the following members, chaired 
by Eng. Tawfiq Al-Habashneh, the Chairman of the Board of Directors.

He held several positions in the water sector, including the Secre-
tary General of the Ministry of Water and Irrigation and the Di-
rector of the Project Management Unit at the Ministry of Water 
and Irrigation. He has a Master’s degree in Business Administra-
tion from Warwick University in the United Kingdom, a Master’s 
degree in Water and Environmental Management from Loughbor-
ough University in the United Kingdom, and a Bachelor of Civil 
Engineering from the University of Jordan. 

He holds a Bachelor’s degree of Architecture from Italy in 1987. 
He worked in the private sector for 24 years. He is a member of 
boards of directors, trustees and general assemblies of many estab-
lishments in the country. 

He holds a Bachelor’s degree in Political Science from Yarmouk 
University. Currently, he is the Chairman of the Board of Direc-
tors of Irbid Chamber of Industry, Deputy Chairman of Jordan 
Chamber of Industry, a member of the Board of Directors of Jor-
dan Industrial Estates Corporation, and a member of the Board of 
Trustees of Yarmouk University. 



23

Mr. Majid Qteishat
SGA assistant at WAJ

Mr. Salah al-Zoubi
ex MP, Jordan Parliament 

Eng. Ahmed Denat
GM, Irbid Electricity Company

He holds a Bachelor’s degree in Electrical Engineering from Uni-
versity of Wuppertal in Germany in 1973 and a Postgraduate Di-
ploma in Electrical Engineering from University of Berlin in 1975. 
He was a project manager and represented AEG in Algeria from 
1975 to 1985. Then, he was appointed at the Electricity Company 
of Irbid and held several positions there before he became the Di-
rector General of the Company in 2002. 

He holds a Bachelor’s degree in Psychology. He was a member of 
the 15th House of Representatives of Jordan. He is a social and 
cultural activist in the Irbid Governorate. 

He holds a Bachelor’s degree in Public Administration with more 
than 18 years of experience in human resource management, 
capacity building and institutional development. He occupied 
several leadership and supervisory positions in the public and 
private sectors, in addition to his job as a consultant for donor-
funded projects.
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Company Pillars

Vision We are devoted to provide the best services in the water 
and sanitation sector with high efficiency and excellence to 
improve the level of services provided to customers.

Mission Achieve the highest level of efficiency in managing sustaina-
ble and efficient drinking water and sanitation services in a 
transparent and fair manner.

Values Quality, team spirit, loyalty, innovation, creativity, reliability 
and transparency. 
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Company Responsibilities

The Company’s Establishment

Based on the decision of the Council of Ministers dated April 27th, 
2010, Yarmouk Water Company was established for water sector 
management in the northern governorates. It was registered with 
the Ministry of Industry and Trade on July 26th, 2010 as a limited 
liability company under no. 22404 (the national number of the 
establishment is 200112732, in accordance with the provisions 
of the Jordanian Companies Law No. 22 of 1997. The Compa-
ny, whose functions are defined in accordance with the provisions 
of the Articles of Association and the Companies Law, is wholly 
owned by the Water Authority of Jordan, which forms the General 
Assembly of the Company, represented by the Board of Directors 
of the Water Authority. Accordingly, Yarmouk Water Company is 
considered as a government entity or unit, since it is completely 
owned by the government. As a result, it is subject to a set of laws 
that apply to government-owned entities. As it strives to efficiently 
provide water and sanitation services, it aims to upgrade service 
delivery in the service area in the four governorates and to im-
plement strategic initiatives for reducing water losses and electric 
energy consumption. This would ultimately improve the Compa-
ny’s general performance by increasing revenues, decreasing ex-
penses, building technical and administrative capacity, and facing 
the problem of water scarcity to meet the demands of natural and 
forced growth.

Legal Frameworks 

In performing its activities and operations, the Company shall be 
subject to the laws, regulations and instructions related to the wa-
ter and sanitation facilities in force in the country. As a company 
registered in accordance with the provisions of the Jordanian Com-
panies Law and wholly owned by the Water Authority, Yarmouk 
Water Company is covered by the following governing legal frame-
works:

• The Jordanian Companies Law No. 22 of 1997.
• The Water Authority Law No. 18 of 1988.
• Drinking Water Subscription/Sharing Law No. 67 of 1994.
• Sanitation Law No. 66 of 1994. 
• The Assignment Agreement (AA) concluded with the Water 

Authority. 
• Applicable laws relating to government units. 
• The Company’s Memorandum and Articles of Association. 

Company’s Objectives

• Conclusion of an agreement and/or agreements with the Min-
istry of Water and Irrigation/the Water Authority of Jordan 

or its successors or any other entity under the law with a view 
to assuming supervision of the water and sanitation services 
within the Company’s activity area in the Hashemite King-
dom of Jordan.

• Research, development and acquisition of new renewable or 
non-renewable water resources within the Company›s area of 
activity from various traditional and non-conventional sur-
face and ground sources including desalination, in accordance 
with the applicable regulations and instructions of the Minis-
try of Water and Irrigation.

• Water transport, storage, and distribution. 
• Monitoring water resources in the Company’s area of activity 

and protecting them from encroachment and pollution. 
• Monitoring and supervising the quality of water in the Com-

pany’s area of coverage. 
• Conducting the necessary contracting activities for the imple-

mentation of the Company›s objectives and contracting with 
contractors.

• Conducting training activities and preparing water studies 
and designs necessary for the implementation of the Compa-
ny’s activities and goals. 

• Entering into tenders and taking part in auctions in projects, 
contracts and internal supplies within [the framework of ] the 
Company’s objectives. 

• The initiation of lawsuits and legal proceedings necessary to 
preserve the sources and uses of water and the assets owned 
and/or managed by the Company.

• Water export and import from inside and outside the Compa-
ny’s service coverage area.

• Wastewater collection, transport and treatment and disposal 

Per Capita Share (L/d)

2016 2017 2018

85

87

92
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of sludge. 
• Raising public awareness about water and wastewater issues 

and encouraging good practices. 
• Owning and dealing with movable and immovable property, 

including real estate necessary for the purposes of the Com-
pany. 

• The execution of the objectives of the Company, whether di-
rectly or through third-party companies or business combina-
tions or coalitions or any other legal or contractual arrange-
ments. 

• Selling and purchasing goods and services. 
• Getting loans from banks and financial institutions and re-

ceiving grants either from the Jordanian government or from 
funders or financing entities in accordance with the legislation 
in force, as well as mortgaging any of the assets owned by the 
Company for this purpose.

• Participation in other companies and institutions. 
• Revenue collection of the services provided by the Company. 

The Umbrella of Government Laws

1. The Fiscal/ Financial Surpluses Law No. 30 of 2007
• Submission of the annual budget of the Company to 

the General Budget Department of the Ministry of 
Finance, not later than the middle of November of each 
year.

• Presentation of the audited financial 
statements no later than the end of 
April of each year.

• Delivery of any financial surplus to 
the Ministry of Finance.

2. The Audit Bureau Law No. 28 of 1952
• The Audit Bureau is the financial 

and administrative control author-
ity over any company in which the 
government holds 51% of its shares 
or more. The Audit Bureau Law ap-
plies to Yarmouk Water Company, 
as it is wholly owned by the Water 
Authority of Jordan.

The Company’s Internal Bylaws

As of the end of 2018, the Company devel-
oped several internal regulations and policies, 
in collaboration with the USAID-funded “Wa-
ter Management Initiative” project. Of these 
regulations approved by the Board of Directors 
of the Company are the Financial Policy, Fixed 
Asset Management Policy, Annual Budget 
Preparation Policy, Fleet Management Manu-
al, Cash Management Manual and others.

The Authorities of the Company

• Pursuant to the Assignment Agreement 
concluded between the Water Authority 
of Jordan and Yarmouk Water Company, 

the Water Authority shall give the Company the right to own, 
develop, maintain, and operate movable assets in the service 
area for 99 years in return for guarantees and undertakings 
made by the Company to fulfill its obligations under the As-
signment Agreement.

• In light of the recent amendment to the Water Authority Law, 
which stipulates the severity of penalties for those who violate 
infringe on the Water Authority’s property/properties and fa-
cilities, the Company aspires to: 
1. Reduce the repeated encroachments on water stations, 

lines and networks.
2. Reduce the administrative losses by controlling cases of 

illegal water use and bringing violators to justice and take 
legal action against them.

3. Collect the Company’s receivables through the estab-
lished tools and procedures within the specified time 
frames.
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Supportive Donors
The USAID-funded “Water Management Initiative” project is a 
series of projects and initiatives that have been executed or are un-
der way, including the development of the organizational struc-
ture, financial policy, human resource systems, standard operating 
procedures, and other regulations; providing support to the Com-
pany's accounts re-
ceivable collection 
campaign through 
planning, organiz-
ing, implementing 
a comprehensive 
media campaign, and providing technical support to develop col-
lection mechanisms and incentive program; the establishment of a 
customer service operation control center; network maintenance; 
work development in sewage treatment plants; and the creation of 
a development plan for the Company's headquarters.
The “Water Management Initiative” project has conducted a survey 
to detect the extent of the knowledge of Jordanians and refugees re-
siding in the service area about water issues and to get information 
on their attitudes and consumption patterns. The findings helped 
detect knowledge gaps. As a result, specialized activities were pro-
vided, which were meant to raise awareness about water sector 
challenges, the scarcity of sources, the cost of water delivery to con-
sumers, and the importance of rationalizing water consumption 
and encouraging individuals to adopt water-saving methods for 
water conservation and reuse. At the request of the Water Author-
ity and based on the report of the “Water Management Initiative” 
project on the assessment of groundwater monitoring methods, 
procedures have been developed to improve groundwater manage-
ment for non-agricultural wells. Besides, tender documents for the 
installation of 241 ultrasonic meters for private non-agricultural 
wells have been prepared. A specialized unit has also been estab-
lished to manage all aspects of work relating to billing, collection, 
new subscriptions, and objections, which will leave a positive im-
pact towards raising the level of collection, lowering the percentage 
of water losses, and providing the necessary financial resources to 
enable the Company to fulfil its obligations. The Control and Li-
aison Center at the Company’s office in Jerash has been equipped 
as well. In collaboration with the “Water Management Initiative” 
project, the Company organized a two-day activity in the Dead Sea 
area, where the Board of Directors and other managers discussed 
issues pertaining to the Company’s vision, financial plans, human 
resources, internal auditing, information technology, governance 
and strategic planning, as well as the future action plans that were 
agreed upon.
Moreover, the Water Authority supported an initiative project 
from June 2017 to September 2018 to build a register of the assets 
assigned from the Water Authority to Yarmouk Water Company 
in the four governorates and to build another register for the assets 
purchased by the Company itself from 2011 till the end of 2018. 
This step will pave the road to the creation of an accurate fixed as-
set register whose data will be transferred to the Oracle ERP fixed 
asset unit, immediately after completion of the validation phase of 
the consolidated data. This will enable the Company to efficiently 
manage this important aspect according to the established systems 
and best practices of asset management. In collaboration with the 
Company, the project helped assess performance levels. Means to 
raise service levels, including billing and collection, and establish-

ing a control center in Irbid were recommended. 

In parallel, the German Agency for International Cooperation 
(GIZ) upgraded water networks in Samar, Fou’ara and Al-Kharaj. 
It also worked on the construction and extension 
of water networks in Beit Ras and Al-Khamas, in 
addition to the rehabilitation of water networks in 
the villages of Ibder and Dowgarah. A grant at a 
total value of 1.6 million Jordanian dinars was al-
located for these activities implemented by 2018.

The KfW bank group worked on the expansion 
and rehabilitation of the sewage networks in Mafraq. A grant at an 
approximate value of 9.25 million Jordanian dinars was allocated 
for that purpose. A grant at a value of 10 million 
Jordanian dinars was allocated for the construc-
tion of a sewage network in the town of Bani 
Hasan in Mafraq.

Action contre la faim (ACF) is working on sever-
al projects for the Company, including the extension of water lines 
in Dair Esse’neh, Al-Taybeh, the rehabilitation of water networks 
in Northern Al-Mazar Ash-Shamali (Enbeh and Irhaba) and the 
town of Jahfiyyah, as well as the extension of water lines and net-
works in Al-BayDa Quarter in the town of Irha-
ba. The value of these projects amounted to near-
ly three quarters of a million Jordanian dinars by 
the end of the year 2018. These projects are still 
under implementation, though. 

In addition, other partners have provided grants to the Company. 
UNICEF has upgraded the Hareema/ Bani Kinanah water net-
work at a cost of approximately 400 thousand Jordanian dinars. It 
has also worked on water supply delivery to a number of schools in 
the governorates of Mafraq, Irbid, Jerash 
and Ajloun at a cost amounting to three 
quarters of a million Jordanian dinars.

The Saudi Fund financed the rehabil-
itation and improvement of the water 
networks in the towns of Al-Hyanat, Al-
Ba'ij, Umm Al-serb, Ad-daqmasah and 
Az-Zubaydiyyah in the governorate of Irbid, as well as the town of 
Housha in the governorate of Mafraq.

The Red Cross financed the rehabilita-
tion of Malka pumping station, siffin 
pumping station (Phase I), and Haree-
ma pumping station. It also financed the 
implementation of the water pipeline to 
Al-Mkimnat wells in the Northern Val-
leys Ash-Shamaliyyeh at a total cost of more than one million Jor-
danian dinars.
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Organizational Structure

Departmental manpower (2018)

Administration
13%

Customer Services
22%

Operational maintenance
64%

Manpower gender per cent (2018)

Male
91%

Female 
9%

Manpower count at year end

2015 2016 2017 2018

1684

1691

16491649

The Company hires 1667 staff members and workers in all de-
partments and divisions. These employees share the burdens and 
responsibilities incumbent upon them. In comparison to the pre-
vious situation, they are progressing at all levels nowadays, due to 
the Company’s efforts in upgrading their skills, through providing 
training whenever the opportunity arises. The rationale behind 
such training is to equip the staff with the updated knowledge 
and skills for improving performance through using functional 
knowledge and attracting expertise. The Company perform its op-
erations in four main governorates through different directorates, 
departments, sections and divisions, which fulfil the responsibili-
ties and functions entrusted to them. Depending on the exigencies 
of work, the organizational structure of the Company is subject to 
development and change.

Employees under different types of contracts carry out their duties 
that represent the main activities of the Company, namely operat-
ing and maintenance activities, technical service activities, custom-
er service activities, and financial and management activities. As 
one of the Company’s departments that has ROU organizational 
units, the Operations and Maintenance Department holds 64% 
of the general census of the labor force. This department manages 
and supervises the water and sanitation sectors in the service area. 
Workers mostly perform the activities of operating and maintain-
ing networks, water transmission lines, reservoirs and other com-
ponents of the water supply system. The supervisory and adminis-
trative engineers are part of this department. 

23 of the workforce in the Company hold post-graduate degrees, 
234 workers hold bachelor's degrees, and the rest of the workers 
do not have degrees. Workers perform their duties in all service 
areas. As regards gender diversity, the percentage of female workers 
is 9.4% of the total employment. The low ratio is due to several 
factors, the most important of which are the nature of the Com-
pany's activities in the water and sanitation sectors and the remote 
location of some service areas.

The Company gives its contracted employees their salaries, in ac-
cordance with the Jordanian Labor Law. It also provides an um-
brella of the government health insurance and contributes to the 
Staff Provident Fund. In order to improve the standard of living 
of its employees, the Company has made several adjustments to 
the salaries of its employees since its establishment, in addition to 
the other benefits they receive. This has led to the increase of their 
incomes and the stability of their employment due to job security. 
In the same vein, the Company evaluates its employees annually, 
and in the light of the results of this evaluation, an annual increase 
is granted.
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Manpower academic degrees (2018)

Master
1%

Below Highschool
39%

Vocational Diploma
13%

Diploma
20%

Tawjihi
13%

Bachelor
14%

Employee age groups (2018)

Above 40
79%

30 -40
15%

20 -30
6%

Functinonal Structure
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Regulations and Policies

Enterprise Resource Planning (ERP) System

This system consists of nine operating modules that manage all the 
financial and accounting process activities distributed to the pro-
curement units (purchases, warehouses, and fixed assets), human 
resources units (personnel and salaries), and accounting units (the 
general ledger, accounts payables, accounts receivables, and cash). 
In addition, the system serves budgeting, planning and cost anal-
ysis features. In the second half of 2017, human resources units 
were upgraded to a high level of automation to minimize human 
intervention. It is noteworthy that the Water Authority and the 
Ministry of Water and Irrigation, like many other large institu-
tions, have adopted the earliest version of the ERP system (dated 
back to 2003). This system offers the possibilities for expanding the 
activation of several activities of the various operating departments 
or divisions, and it accepts the modification, development and up-
grade of its features. It is one of the most comprehensive account-
ing, financial, and administrative applications globally recognized 
for serving the business requirements of the ERP environment.

The Company’s Oracle EBS 11i upgrade project was implemented. 
Therefore, Oracle EBS 11i was upgraded to Oracle EBS 12.2.6, 
which included the re-engineered 
cycles of the nine sub-units of 
the activities of the finance, pro-
curement and human resources 
departments. Such re-engineered 
sub-units have been available 
to users since the beginning of 
2018, each according to the tasks 
entrusted to him. Following an 
electronic course of activity would 
help reduce the paperwork, which 
Yarmouk Water Company needs 
in order to improve its financial 
and administrative performance.

Therefore, all staff members con-
cerned were requested to work 
collaboratively with the team of 
the “Water Management Initi-
ative” project to bring Yarmouk 
Water Company to the desired 
level. That necessitated the devel-
opment of the Oracle system to 
be used as a key tool to achieve 
the planned goals. Based on 
that, inventory custodians in the 
Company's 18 warehouses began 

working on the electronic inventory system as of 1/1/2018 instead 
of the previously established manual records (stock registers) of 
tracking inventory movement to and from warehouses. Note that 
the system allows users in the sites to issue the receiving and issu-
ance forms, sign and save them manually and electronically. All the 
finance departments in the Company were requested to refuse any 
transaction that arrives manually for the activities of procurement, 
warehouses, salaries, and so on, and to request the originator of the 
transaction to go electronically according to the relevant activity 
cycle. The preparation and issuance of monthly salaries using the 
system unit designated for this activity has been initiated. This is 
also applicable to all other system units, including the cash man-
agement unit, which is responsible for preparing and processing 
bank reconciliations periodically.



31

insert caption

As it is the case with the previous system, the developed system 
consists of the following main units:
• Financial management activities include the general ledger 

system, payables, receivables, fixed assets, and cash manage-
ment. 

• Procurement activities include procurement and stored ma-
terials.

• Human resources activities include basic human resources 
and payroll.

This system has been developed taking into account many of the 
best practices of the activity and its documentary cycle derived 
from the accrual principle applied in other water companies in the 
kingdom and in the business sector in general. This development 
will enable the various departments in the Company to reduce the 
paperwork that has been in place since its inception. This has ne-
cessitated the design of that work cycle so that it takes an electronic 
path within the system.

Being a comprehensive and complex system covering all financial 
and administrative activities in the Company’s headquarters and 
its affiliated ROUs, the ERP system requires qualified staff mem-
bers to maintain it and deal with the obstacles that may impede 
work in different situations. The “Water Management Initiative” 
project has trained a number of key users from all departments of 
Yarmouk Water Company, each serving the tasks entrusted to the 
department in which he/she works. However, the Company still 
needs a qualified key-user cadre that can maintain the system tech-
nically and administratively, keep it active all the time, and develop 

it from time to time.

Now, Yarmouk Water Company is adopting the most comprehen-
sive system in the Kingdom's water sector, which is currently op-
erational a year after its development by a local developer. Much 
time and effort has been spent to make this project a success for 
the benefit of the Company and the water sector. Nevertheless, 
in order to ensure the continuation of this system in the desired 
manner, and to prevent any future obstacles, the Company will 
provide assistance to its various departments. It will also provide 
the required competencies for the management and maintenance 
of the system.

During the second half of 2018, the “Water Management Initi-
ative” project assisted Yarmouk Water Company to use the latest 
version of Oracle EBS after the end of the 14-month implemen-
tation period, which included the re-engineering of the business 
cycles of the financial and administrative activities, as well as the 
activities related to warehouses, procurement, assets, cash man-
agement, personnel affairs, and collection. The system is currently 
working well in all locations linked with the Company's head-
quarters. Users enter the transactions for supply requests, person-
nel affairs, cash collection, miscellaneous expenses, and so on. In 
addition, to the Company's head office handles all the centralized 
operations related to finance, procurement, human resources and 
warehouses through a unified interconnected system that shows 
the results of the Company's performance in its periodic reports, 
which helps the Company evaluate its performance regularly. 

The new system at Yarmouk Wa-
ter Company (Oracle EBS R12) 
can be seen as an extension of 
the obsolete (Oracle 11i) that 
was implemented in 2006. Over 
the previous years, the level of 
utilization has been low, though. 
The percentage of utilization has 
not exceeded 15% of the system’s 
available capabilities. However, 
the image of the old system has 
turned into its opposite with the 
new R12. All users of the sys-
tem have been obliged to use the 
new version. For the good of the 
Company and the water sector in 
Jordan, the Company’s Board of 
Directors and its senior manage-
ment have supported that trend. 
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Geographical Information System (GIS) and Survey
A team of employees in the Company is working on this system. 
Equipped with modern equipment to carry out field work, they 
are trying to determine water needs for the foreseeable future as 
a result of the expansion of areas within municipal organization.

System User Training 
In conjunction with the implementation of the new systems cur-

rently in place at the Company, the employees were trained accord-
ing to their roles at the Company’s head office and all other service 
areas of the Company. A total of 320 users of the ERP system have 
been trained at all locations, and donor support is still taking place 
to ensure the continuity and serving the purposes of adopting it in 
the coming years.
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Future Plans

The top goals of the Company are to improve the level of the ser-
vices provided, improve performance, enhance continuity through 
development, find innovative alternatives, continue achieving 
progress, and keep all that active all the time. With these goals in 
mind, the Company is working on its strategic plan. It is a plan 
that includes objectives, programs and future projects in the form 
of time-bound action plans, and costs are allocated in coordination 
with the concerned parties. 
Keeping pace with developments in water and sanitation manage-
ment technology is a major concern for the Company, as it looks 
forward to an advanced level of technology to manage facilities 
more efficiently and at a lower cost. To achieve this, the Company 
communicates with experts and consultants with a view to enrich-
ing its experience and keeping abreast of developments in this area.
Jordan is one of the ten poorest countries in the world in terms of 
water resources per inhabitant. Like in Sub-Saharan Africa, water 
consumption per capita in Jordan is about 90 liters per day, com-
pared to 300 liters per day, the global average of water consump-
tion per capita. This requires the creation of competent specialized 
bodies that can manage the water sector effectively, enabling com-
munity members to get their needs of drinking water. The magni-
tude of this need is much greater than what Jordanians have con-
sumed for decades. Rationalization of water consumption remains 
an important goal and, in all cases, means not wasting water, but it 
does not mean providing the individual with less than his natural 
need of this basic life requirement. We understand that this small 
or inadequate supply in Jordan is caused by the lack of water re-
sources in the first place. The need to increase the per capita water 
share remains the basis, though. Finding solutions that serve this 
strategic objectives is a priority. That is where the bodies that man-
age this sector comes in.
 In speaking of the water strategy, the Company alone cannot draw 
up such a policy in isolation from the competent authorities. Such 
a long-term policy is for the Company to be part of, not to create, 
as it is not the competent authority to do so. It does not have the 
legal framework to deal with such a matter, either. Nevertheless, 
the Company, within its available resources, can have a long-term 
impact on its coverage area by implementing the plans that it be-
lieves will make a difference between what the situation was and 
what it is now. It can also increase the per capita share of freshwater 
in that area by creating new water sources. The increase in the per 
capita share of water does not contradict the call to reduce water 
consumption. Rather, the high per capita share of water consump-
tion reflects the well-being and progress of the country.
Prudent water policy attaches great importance to the reduction of 
water losses to the minimum possible. This would serve the higher 
objectives of the sector regulators, the public interest of the King-
dom, and the exclusive objectives of the performance of the oper-
ational units entrusted to serve particular areas. Some areas of the 

Kingdom suffer from water loss that may reach half of the amount 
produced through pumping. Such loss may reach more than that 
amount in some other areas, though. We can imagine the difficult 
situation in a country suffering from scarcity of its limited water 
resources diminishing over time, at a time when these quantities of 
water are wasted without revenue, resulting in weakness in capaci-
ties, which negatively affects other aspects of the overall operation 
of this vital resource.
The Company is currently working on defining the outlines of 
its long-term strategy, the most important of which are the focus 
on the performance of the administrative and operational units 
that manage all the activities of support as well as office and field 
work, through setting objectives within defined time-frames, and 
improving performance with time to achieve the development ob-
jectives in the service area. The Company also sets long-term goals 
and means of reaching them by relying on its own sources. Of 
these objectives are: (1) to maintain the provision of safe water 
for all users; (2) to increase the annual per capita share of water 
by finding alternative sources of water; (3) to continue improving, 
expanding, and upgrading infrastructure; and (4) to promote high 
levels of performance, efficiency and productivity among workers, 
thus enhancing the overall operational and administrative process.
The Company performs its functions by means of computer sys-
tems, most of which have been developed and operated during 
its operation. Billing, collection, accounting, field surveys, puri-
fication plant management, transmission lines, reservoirs (storage 
tanks), and distribution networks are all controlled by specialized 
systems that provide the administration and decision-makers with 
reliable data to build on. 
The human element remains the most important asset of the Com-
pany. The Company’s operations and functions are carried out by 
qualified human resources, who keep the Company on track. For 
that, the Company has 
paid great attention 
to the human element 
since its inception. 
Knowing that the in-
come of the employee 
is one of the most im-
portant reasons for his 
full dedication to his 
job, the   Company is 
working on improving 
the levels of its employ-
ees through training and 
awareness raising and by 
hiring highly qualified 
staff in the areas of re-
quired specializations.
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Water Sector
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Sector Services

The most important element of this integrated structure is the human component. There are mobile teams working 
round the clock on rotating shifts. They even work on weekends and holidays. These teams are fully equipped with the 
necessary equipment to deal with any emergency or complaint, to ensure that problems would not recur in the future. 
After assuming its responsibilities in 2011, the Company started operating the service in the same way as it is now. 
This situation requires the Company to make good use of its own financial and human resources and to spend what 
is needed on the infrastructure of water distribution networks, main and secondary transmission lines, storage tanks, 
and all the machines and equipment needed to operate the system. The Company is also responsible for drilling wells 
in certain areas when need arises and employing qualified human resources to operate and manage that. To achieve 
that, the Company shall allocate the annual financial resources needed to carry out these activities and meet the re-
quirements of capital expenditure.

The operation of the service is not limited to the maintenance 
teams, although they are very important in this regard.  There are 
other elements/ activities that are as important as that such as the 
active, round-the-clock operation, management, follow-up, and 
control of operating systems, along with quality control through 
the Directorate of laboratories, where there is an increase in the 
staff members and available means so as to enable them [laborato-
ries] to conduct all laboratory tests in the field.

Possibilities and Capabilities

Yarmouk Water Company is a company concerned with providing 
operation and maintenance services for the water and sanitation 
facilities in the service area of the northern governorates (Irbid, 
Mafraq, Jerash, and Ajloun). The population of the four gover-
norates is 2.9 million inhabits. The Company serves an area of 29 
thousand square km representing 30% of the area of the Hashe-
mite Kingdom of Jordan.
Yarmouk Water Company relies directly on pumping water from 
Al-‘Aqib/ the Northern Badia (Za'atari) and Wadi Al-‘Arab wells 
to Houfa and Zabda reservoirs, from which water is pumped to 
the rest of the governorates for long distances reaching altitudes of 
1200 meters in some areas, causing an increase in electricity con-
sumption and an increase in water losses due to the long distances 
and difficult terrain between the sources and the subscribers.
Water challenges have increased beyond the capabilities of the 
Company in the service areas hosting Syrian refugees. These se-
rious challenges have exacerbated the water deficit that the region 
has experienced for a long time. 
The number of water subscribers reached about 341 thousand sub-
scribers by the end of 2018, with a service coverage ratio of about 
99% of the population, and the number of the subscribers of the 
sanitation service was about 141 thousand subscribers at a rate of 
42% of the subscribers of the water service. The quantity of water 
produced from internal and imported sources has amounted to 
96.4 million m3, with an average consumption of 92 liters/person 
per day.

Obstacle Avoidance 

There are many factors that affect the way the Company operates. 
There is no way to prevent the effects of some of them because they 
are out of control at certain times, whereas others may be avoid-
ed to some extent. For example, the Company is directly affected 
by any governmental decisions affecting the water and sanitation 
sectors. This is also the case in the laws issued by the legislative, reg-
ulatory and municipal bodies. If the specification of the water to 
be supplied to consumers has changed in such a way that requires 
the Company to make capital expenditure to treat water in order 
to meet the requirements of the new specification, then the Com-
pany will be obliged to implement spending that will inevitably 
affect the priorities of its plans and its cash position with regard to 
other scheduled expenditures. This is an example of the service risk 
factors that the Company can face, which cannot be controlled. 
Also, a change in tariffs, such as reducing the sale price of water 
by a government decision, which is considered as one of the most 
important risk factors affecting the Company's activities, will re-
sult in higher operating costs compared to revenues. Consequently, 
this will increase the volume of losses with which the cash surpluses 
generated from the revenues are reduced. This ultimately leads to a 
restructuring of capital expenditure plans for the years to come, in 
line with the Company's diminishing monetary potential as a re-
sult of that decision or legislation. In the final analysis, this means 
making less capital expenditures in the service area, postponing the 
development of facilities, or lowering the level of development at 
best.
Rising prices of raw materials, network and pipe supplies, as well 
as fuel are all risk factors that directly affect the water service, and 
there is no alternative but to deal with them. The direct effects are 
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Ajloun- Governmental customer counts at year end 

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

23,91723,199
22,176

21,217
20,27119,503

3.1%

4.6%4.5%4.7%
3.9%3.9%

4.7% 4.5% 4.6%

3.1%

Irbid- Governmental customer counts at year end 

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

227,090221,585
213,229

203,672
193,224

183,211

2.5%

3.9%
4.7%5.4%5.5%5.5% 5.4% 4.7%

3.9%

2.5%

Mafraq- Governmental customer counts at year end 

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

56,77554,723
52,581

50,022
47,129

44,563

3.7%4.1%
5.1%

6.1%5.8%5.8% 6.1%
5.1%

4.1% 3.7%

Jerash- Governmental customer counts at year end 

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

33,01032,154
30,941

29,647
28,32427,239

2.7%

3.9%4.4%4.7%
4.0%4.0%

4.7% 4.4% 3.9%

2.7%

the higher operating costs, due to the higher costs of the materials 
involved in the operating process and the lower operational reve-
nues.
There are other risk factors indirectly related to the service but di-
rectly related to the service area itself. The growth of population 
and capital investment in the region generates an increasing de-
mand for water that the Company must meet. This demand re-
quires the Company to consider additional alternatives to meet the 
ever-rising demand for water supply. This means that the Com-
pany has to spend from its own sources to provide the service, re-
sulting in making financial expenditures that may not be available 
when needed.
The existence of a water network serving everyone, wherever there 
are population concentrations, will be subject to different types of 
risk factors. Perhaps the most important one is the possibility of 
exposure to pollution. All of the cited examples, among others that 
were not referred to, are meant to demonstrate that a company 
entrusted with the management and operation of the water and 
sanitation sectors in the service area is required to develop plans to 
address the various risks that may hinder service delivery. 

Water Supply in Service Areas

The Company’s vital service is limited to providing subscribers with 
safe drinking water, in accordance with the national specifications, 
and in sufficient quantities. To ensure this, the Company must car-
ry out its responsibilities efficiently, as it is the only entity in the 
four northern governorates to provide this service to subscribers. 
The responsibilities of the Company cover several activities, such 
as the establishment of infrastructure that serves the purpose of 
delivering water to subscribers; the maintenance of production 
wells, transmission lines, internal networks, and storage tanks for 
the collection and distribution of water in its various categories; 
and sustaining the desired level of service delivery. 
This requires that the Company be kept in a state of permanent 
readiness all the time, day and night. It also requires the mainte-
nance and water testing (water quality inspection) teams to work 
round the clock on rotating shifts. The Control Division, which 
monitors water levels at specific points of the network, pumping 
pressures, and storage levels in reservoirs, and which deals with 
emergencies, must work round the clock, as well. The Company’s 
administrative, planning and supervisory cadre, who draws up pol-
icies, monitors performance, prepares reports, and discloses them 
to the public and regulatory bodies concerned, must work round 
the clock, too. 
Maintaining this complex structure in a state of permanent op-
eration all the time is not easy to handle. In the event of a break-
down of the system, the situation must be dealt with to ensure 
uninterrupted service. The main and secondary transmission lines 
extending from the pumping areas to the distribution networks in 
the four governorates (Jerash, Ajloun, Mafraq, and Irbid), [whose 
diameter] ranges from 25 mm to 1200 mm [must be kept in good 
condition all the time] because they serve areas with an approxi-
mate population of 341 thousand. Remote areas with low popu-
lation density have been provided with water by the Company's 
tanks.

There are also reservoirs connected to the internal transmission 
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lines which are linked to the distribution network for each area. 
This requires constant monitoring of the level of water storage in 
each of them, cleaning and conducting laboratory tests, guarding 
them and keeping their electrical and mechanical systems working 
all the time. In the event of a system failure, water supply service is 
interrupted in one or more areas. As regards the internal distribu-
tion network, the part where most problems occur to subscribers 
and to the Company, incidents can occur and affect the function of 
the overall system responsible for water delivery. Maintenance on 
the roads may result in the disconnection of one or more parts of 
the network, or the blockage of some of them. Construction work 
also has the same impact on the network. Besides, tampering with 
any part of the network can affect its internal pressure.

Pumping 

Whereas the Water Authority owns the natural water sources 
known as wells or water basins, it allows the Company to use them 

under the Company’s Memorandum of Association. This gives the 
Company the right to pump the annual needs of fresh water and 
to maintain a reserve to meet the ever-increasing water demands 
of the four northern governorates. The growing industries in some 
areas in these governorates also require additional quantities of wa-
ter for operation.
The 2018 production of fresh water pumped from all wells was 
approximately 93 million cubic meters, and water received from 
the two governorates (Zarqa and Amman) was 3.5 million cubic 
meters, with a total of more than 96 million cubic meters of water. 
That was needed for meeting the fresh water demand of the four 
governorates. The largest share of water (56%) was allocated to 
Irbid Governorate, and the 44% share was allocated to the rest of 
the governorates.

The Wells

The Company shall ensure everything necessary for the operation 
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of wells in its quest to obtain the maximum possible quantities of 
water production at the lowest cost and to provide all materials 
required for maintenance work, such as replacing old equipment of 
cables, suspension pipes, and electrical panels, to ensure the func-
tioning of the Company's wells and the equipping of new ones, in 
coordination with the Drilling Department, the Department of 
Central Workshops and Laboratories, and the approved drilling 
companies.
Drilling new groundwater wells requires hydrological surveys and 
maps of water resources indicating potential production areas at 
the proposed drilling sites. Water produced in these areas is used 
for the benefit of the inhabitants there. As there are remote com-
munities, the Company has supplied water to them from local and 
private wells.
Sources of water supply to the Company are limited to the wells 
in all service areas in the four governorates, which produce water 
quantities amounting to a total of 93 million m3. Additionally, the 
Company buys about 5 million m3 of water from private wells. 

Besides the Disi water line to Za’atri, which supplies an estimate 
of 2 million m3 of water to the area, Mafraq Governorate and the 
Northern Badia have the largest number of wells, at a percentage 
of 48% of the total number of wells, while the remaining 52% is 
distributed among the three other governorates (Irbid, Jerash, and 
Ajloun). 
In coordination with a special technical team and some private 
contractors, the Wells Regulatory Unit in the Company carries out 
the maintenance work of wells, such as the lifting, lowering, and 
maintaining of submersible pumps. Several submersible pumps 
and motors have been repaired and maintained as desired (the well 
of Az-Zubaydiyyah with a production capacity of 40 m3/h, the 
well of Summayya 3 with a capacity of 50 m3/h, the well of Al-
‘Aqib 123 with a capacity of 85 m3/h, the development of the well 
of Hleiwah 124 with a capacity of 80 m3/h, the well of  Tabqet 
Fahl No. 11 with a capacity of 45 m3/h, the well of Jaber No. 10 
with a capacity of 50 m3/h, the well of Faisal nurseries No. 9 with 
a capacity of 70 m3/h, and the well of az-Zinyah No. 10 with a ca-
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pacity of 50 m3/h), in addition the development of a wells control 
unit, which is being equipped to perform its functions as required.
The Company has contributed and supervised the tender of drill-
ing and equipping the well of Municipality of Irbid/Hakama, to 
be in actual use in early 2019. Also, the Company has developed 
operating systems (Inventor), with new protections that have been 
installed at different sites.
In order to ensure the continuity of water supply, the competent/
relevant department performs, in coordination with the Water Au-
thority, the follow-up of the production quantities of the wells by 
measuring the water level and the quantity of production per well. 
Besides the follow-up of private wells, the competent/relevant de-

partment coordinates with the bodies responsible for well-drilling, 
carries out the follow-up of drilling wells, and implement wells 
rehabilitation projects. 
The Company does not pay the Water Authority the price of fresh 
water produced (pumped) from all sources of supply. However, the 
Company pumps and distributes it through distribution networks 
to different areas. Through an integrated system of operations, the 
Company is able to deliver water to users in these areas or regions. 
For pumping and operating operations, the integrated system re-
quires the consumption of electrical energy. In the year 2018, the 
value of the electricity bill reached 40 million Jordanian dinars, 
and the direct and indirect operating costs were in the range of 33 
million Jordanian dinars. Thus, the approximate costs of deliver-
ing the total quantity of water needed by consumers in all regions 
or areas amounted to 73 million Jordanian dinars, distributed be-
tween direct operational costs of 63% and general and administra-
tive costs of 34%.

Reservoirs Collection Tanks

The Company owns 183 reservoirs, some of which are large in size, 
with a capacity of 110 thousand m3 in Zabda. However, some are 
small and serve the purpose of decreasing the pressure of water 
flowing through the transmission line as it crosses an area causing 
increased pressure due to the topography of that area. The other 
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reservoirs with varying capacities serve the purpose of collecting 
water, which is then pumped into the internal distribution net-
works distributed according to zones (regions/ areas).

Besides water storage and distribution, reservoirs serve another 
equally important purpose, which is the treatment of collected wa-
ter with chlorine to eliminate micro-organisms responsible for the 
contamination of water. This chlorination process is carried out 
not only after the water is checked and after it is decided whether 
or not it needs to be treated with chlorine, but it is also conducted 
automatically and in a programmatic manner irrespective whether 
the water is contaminated or not. This process is a prerequisite for 
all institutions involved in the water supply service wherever they 
exist. Because it is safe and harmless to us, this process may be re-
peated several times before water delivery to subscribers. 

Some reservoirs have been built over the last eight years. Some of 
them were funded by international organizations within projects 
meant to assist the water companies in the Kingdom. Managing 
reservoirs and other types of tanks requires permanent mainte-
nance, inspection, regular cleaning, and repairing the broken or 
malfunctioning mechanical and electrical parts. The Company’s 
maintenance teams deal with such demands according to pre-set 
work schedules and emergency calls. The Company also provides 
permanent guarding of these reservoirs to prevent any tampering 
with them or any encroachments on water reserves (water supply). 
Also, it provides cleaning services for their surroundings from 
waste, particularly as they are not generally located in areas adja-
cent to communities.

The chain of tanks is connected to the SCADA (i.e. supervisory 
control and data acquisition) system. Thus, the system operator 
always keeps figures related to the level of water in any of the tanks, 
and in light of that, managing the storage and distribution process 
can be controlled according to a time-bound schedule. Collected 
data and readings are entered into the Company’s database. They 
are recorded for the purposes of conducting studies and compari-
sons, performing statistics, and issuing reports.

Transmission Lines 

The governorates of the service area are supplied with drinking 
water from several sources, the most important of which are the 
groundwater wells and the Disi line to Za’atari. This line extends 
from Khaw to the Za’atari reservoir, with a length of 35 km. Water 
flows via a pipeline by the existing pumps. The destination is ap-
proximately 700 m above sea level.
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The Distribution Network

The distribution network in the four governorates, with a total 
length of about 10 thousand km, serves 99% of the residents of 
these governorates. Those who are located in the service area are 
served by connecting the water distribution network to them 
through sub-connections for the purpose of delivering water to 
their property. As parts of this network are relatively old, this cre-
ates a negative impact on service sustainability, maintenance and 
control procedures.

Service Development Projects 

The Company has prepared a plan to address water-related prob-
lems in the summer so as to reach safe water conditions in the 
four governorates (Irbid, Jerash, Ajloun and Mafraq). In order to 

improve the water situation in the city of Irbid, the Company has 
implemented a number of projects to link the existing lines with 
new lines with larger diameters to increase the pumping of water 
to some areas that are water-deficient in the city. In addition, seven 
networks have been developed in the industrial areas of Hanina, 
Hakama, Fou’ara, and Fou’ara Street, to supply water to these ar-
eas from alternative sources and lines. The most water-scarce or 
water-deficient areas in Irbid Governorate are Fou’ara, Fou’ara 
Street, Taqabul, Umm Al-Jadayel, Hoor, and As’arah, due to the 
dependence of these areas on sources of low water production. This 
required the Company to install a transmission pipeline with a di-
ameter of 300 mm, at a cost of more than 700 thousand Jordanian 
dinars, to improve the water supply situation in these areas.
In order to improve the water supply in West Irbid, the Company 
is working to extend a water line, with a diameter of 125 mm, for 
enhancing the water situation in that part of the city. In Ajloun 
Governorate, a 4-inch diameter pipeline was implemented in 
Khushaybah, to improve water supply in Khushaybah and Al-Jabal 
Al-Akhdar. 4-inch diameter lines were installed in ‘Ayn Janna (the 
Eastern Quarter), and Kafranjah (the Jordan Valley Road), to im-
prove the water situation in the town of Al-Harth and Kafranjah 
Al-Musheirfah, to improve the water situation in Al-‘Amiriyyah, 
‘Anjarah (the Western Quarter), Al-‘Ishriin Road, and ‘Ayn Al-
Bustan Ash-Shamali. All these lines, except for the ‘Anjarah line, 
which is still under implementation, are estimated to cost 2.15 
million Jordanian dinars.

The Disi pipeline from Khaw to Za’atari, which provides the Com-
pany’s service areas with the needed water quantities, was extended 
in 2018 through a tender referred to a foreign company by the Water 
Authority. It took two years to complete establishing this pipeline, 
which is a rust-resistant, corrosion-resistance, and pressure-resistant 
ductile iron pipeline buried more than 2 meters below ground.  The 
pipeline takes a winding path appropriate to the drilling conditions, 
flood areas and service sustainability. 
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In Jerash Governorate, the Al-Khadra Al-Fouqa network was im-
plemented, Jabba and Qurei‘network and the Riimoon water net-
work are expected to become operational during the summer of 
2019, and the network of Balila town is expected to become op-
erational during that summer. In Mafraq Governorate, 6-inch di-
ameter lines were installed in Al-Hashimi Al-Gharbi Quarter and 
Mafraq (The Southern Quarter). 4-inch diameter lines were imple-
mented in Hweishan, ‘Ayn An-Nabi, the Western Hamzah Prince 
Quarter, and Hamamat Al-‘Ulaymat, besides the implementation 
of an 8-inch diameter line to serve Al-Ghadiir Al-Abyad, Al-Akh-
dar. All these projects will be operational in the summer 2019.
The desired situation of service performance is determined by the 
Assignment Agreements (AA) between the Company and other 
regulators such as the Water Authority. To reach that desired situ-
ation, the Company shall assume its responsibilities to realize the 
following objectives: 
• To sustain water supply and meet water demand in the service 

area.
• To maintain safe drinking water by enforcing a series of pro-

cedures that will ensure achieving that goal.
• To provide services in a way that helps local authorities imple-

ment their programs without any hindrance.
• To expand coverage and maintain infrastructure to ensure ac-

cess to subscribers in the coverage area.

Sources of Water Supply

The service areas are divided into four geographical areas, each of 
which has its own sources of water supply. These areas are: 

Irbid Governorate
This governorate is supplied with water from 96 wells producing 
46 million m3 distributed among the wells of Wadi Al-‘Arab, Qa-
sabat Irbid, the Jordan Valley, Ar-Ramtha, Bani Kinanah, Al-Kou-
rah, and Bani Obeid, as well as from the Disi line connecting to 
Za’atri, which produces 11 million m3 annually. Some of the water 
produced by these wells is pumped to the 69 reservoirs in the gov-
ernorate.
The reservoirs supply the internal network with the water quantity 
needed for the consumption of subscribers. The storage capacity of 
51 water tanks located within the borders of the governorate [spe-
cial zone] is approximately 160 thousand m3. This capacity is being 
increased to cope with the increasing water demand and to serve 
new areas. The internal distribution network in Irbid Governorate, 
which is relatively old, has a length of approximately 6377 km, 
serving about 98% of the population of that governorate. This net-
work supplies the governorate with 56 million m3 of water, which 
represents the total quantity it receives. 

Ajloun Governorate 
The governorate is supplied with water from 13 wells producing 3 
million m3 distributed all over the governorate, and also receives 
water from Irbid Governorate estimated at 3 million m3. Some of 
the water produced by the production wells is pumped into the 
32 reservoirs in the governorate. These tanks serve the purpose of 
supplying the internal network in the governorate with the need 
of consumers of water. The storage capacity of 25 tanks of them is 
about 8 thousand m3. This capacity is being increased to cope with 

the increasing water demand and to serve new areas. The internal 
distribution network in Ajloun Governorate, which is relatively 
old, has a length of about 853 km, which serves 98% of the pop-
ulation of the governorate. This network supplies the governorate 
with 6 million m3 of water, which represents the total quantity it 
receives. 

Jerash Governorate
This governorate is supplied with water from 24 wells producing 
5 million m3 distributed all over the governorate. It also receives 
water from Irbid Governorate estimated at 3 million m3, from the 
Za’atri line source estimated at 29 thousand m3, and from Zarqa 
estimated at 161 thousand m3. All these quantities are pumped 
into the 26 reservoirs located throughout the governorate. These 
tanks serve the purpose of providing the internal network with 
the needs of subscribers. The storage capacity of 17 reservoirs lo-
cated within the boundaries of the governorate is approximately 7 
thousand m3. Work is underway to increase this capacity to cope 
with the increasing demand and to serve new areas. The internal 
distribution network in the governorate of Jerash, a relatively old 
network, has a length of about 1185 km, which serves 98% of the 
population of the governorate and receives approximately 8 mil-
lion m3 of water, which represents the pumped quantity of water 
into the governorate.

Mafraq Governorate (including the Northern Badia)
This governorate is supplied with water from 69 wells distribut-
ed between Mafraq (41 wells) and the Northern Badia (28 wells). 
Mafraq also receives 2 million m3 of water from Zarqa/Al-Qinyah 
Station, 188 thousand m3 from Al-Khalidiyyah wells, especially 
Zarqa, and 2.5 million m3 from the Disi line connected to Za’atri. 
The Northern Badia is supplied with water from the internal wells, 
and it receives 7.6 million m3 from the Za’atri line. All quanti-
ties are pumped into the 56 reservoirs. These reservoirs serve the 
purpose of supplying the governorate network with the needs of 
subscribers. The storage capacity of these reservoirs located within 
the boundaries of the governorate is about 35 thousand m3. This 
capacity is being increased to cope with the increasing demand 
and to serve new areas. The distribution network in Mafraq Gov-
ernorate is approximately 2126 km in length, and in the Northern 
Badia it is 1130 km in length, serving 98% of the population of 
the governorate. It receives approximately 29 million m3 of water, 
which represents the pumped quantity of water into the two areas 
of the governorate. 

Supply Management

The Company has implemented many water projects to deal with 
water interruption problems and the lack of access to water in 
some areas in the northern governorates (Irbid, Mafraq, Jerash and 
Ajloun).  The rationale behind the execution of these projects was 
to connect the existing water lines with new lines with larger di-
ameters so as to increase the quantities of water pumped into some 
areas in the city of Irbid, which suffered from shortages in water 
supply. Seven networks have been implemented in the areas of (the 
Industrial City, Hanina, Hakama, Fou’ara, and Fou’ara Street), to 
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increase water supply to these areas from alternative sources and 
pipelines. The 125 mm diameter water lines have been extended 
and connected to a new 400 mm diameter water line in order to 
provide different areas in the Industrial City/Al-Muraisi Rounda-
bout with water. Thus, water supply to approximately 6 thousand 
subscribers was enhanced. They have suffered from poor water sup-
ply in the summer over the past years. 
As regards Hanina, one of the hotspots due to poor water supply 
and due to its dependence on one relatively weak supply line, the 
Company has implemented two 150 mm diameter connections 
with a new 300 mm diameter line, which is supplied with water 
from a 600 mm diameter line, into which a large quantity of wa-
ter is pumped from Zabda and Houfa stations. With this action, 
Hanina was provided with additional quantities of water, which 
boosted water supply to more than 8 thousand subscribers in that 
area, and as a result, ended their suffering during the summertime. 
With regard to the villages of Hakama, Bishra, Sal, Al-Maghir, 
‘Al‘al, and Marw, in which more than 9 thousand subscribers re-
side, the Company extended a 125 mm diameter water line from 
the end of the 600 mm diameter line, in order to supply the Haka-
ma wells and the Bishra pumping station with extra water from 
Bishra, Hakama, ‘Al‘al, Marw, and Al-Maghir. It also implemented 
a 150 mm diameter link to a 600 mm diameter line, for improving 
the water situation in the highlands of Hakama, so as to improve 
the water situation in ‘Asem Quarter /Hakama.
The areas that have suffered most in the governorate of Irbid dur-
ing the summertime over the past years are Fou’ara, Fou’ara Street, 
Taqabul, Umm Al-Jadayel, Hoor, and As’arah. That is because they 
basically rely on supply sources with low production levels. These 
sources are the wells of As’arah (8m), Taqabul (8m), and Fou’ara 
(20m). As there are more than 2000 subscribers in these areas, the 
Company has extended a 300 mm diameter transmission line, at 
a total cost of more than 700 thousand Jordanian dinars, to sup-
ply these communities with water and to serve new areas such as 
Al-Madahel and Al-Khamas. This line has been linked to a 600 
mm diameter transmission line supplied with water from Zabda 
and Houfa reservoirs. This action solved a problem that lasted for 
years and ended the suffering of the citizens in these areas in the 
summer.
For the purpose of improving water supply in the areas of West 
Irbid: Zahar, Soum, Natfeh, Kufryuba, Jijjin Awal Al-Balad, Al-
Mazar, Dair Yousef, and E’nbeh, in which 13000 subscribers re-
side, the Company is working on extending a 125 mm diameter 
line from Houfa station, from which water will be pumped into 
Jahfiyyah station, to improve the water situation there. 90% of the 
12-inch diameter line in Bani Obeid, ending at the south of Idon 
Park in Edun, has been implemented. This line will be connected 
with the Japanese line, which will greatly improve water supply in 
that area. The cost of the construction of the pipeline was about 
140 thousand Jordanian dinars, which would improve the water 
situation in Edun. 
In Ar-Ramtha, 4-inch diameter lines have been constructed in the 
Southern Quarter, Jalamah, and the Intelligence Department area. 
A 6-inch diameter line from Ar-Ramtha main roundabout to the 
Gym (Sports Center) roundabout is underway. All these areas are 
hotspots since citizens suffered for many years from lack of access 
to water services during the summertime.  It is estimated that the 
number of service beneficiaries from these projects is 400. 

In Ajloun Governorate, the distribution networks of several areas 
that had suffered for years were rehabilitated, and a 4-inch diam-
eter line was constructed to improve water supply in Khushaybah 
and Al-Jabal Al-Akhdar. In addition, 4-inch diameter lines were 
installed in ‘Ayn Janna (the Eastern Quarter), and Kafranjah (the 
Jordan Valley Road (, to improve the water situation in the town of 
Al-Harth and Kafranjah Al-Musheirfah, to improve the water situ-
ation in Al-‘Amiriyyah, ‘Anjarah (the Western Quarter), Al-‘Ishriin 
Road, and ‘Ayn Al-Bustan Ash-Shamali. All these lines, except for 
the ‘Anjarah line, which is still under implementation, are func-
tioning properly. In ‘Ibbeen, Sakhra, ‘Ibleen, Ishtafeina, and ‘An-
jarah, 8-inch diameter lines were constructed for improving the 
water situation in these areas. These lines will become operational 
soon. The estimated cost of these projects in Ajloun was about 2.2 
million Jordanian dinars, which would reflect positively on the wa-
ter supply situation of about 8 thousand subscribers who would see 
the difference during the coming summer seasons. 

In Jerash Governorate, the Al-Khadra Al-Fouqa network was 
implemented, Jabba and Qurei‘network and the Riimoon water 
network are expected to become operational during the summer 
of 2019, and the network of Balila town is expected to become 
operational during that summer. These lines would serve about a 
thousand subscribers who suffered lack of water supply. In Mafraq 
Governorate, several projects were implemented in the outskirts 
of the city of Mafraq, which had suffered for years from lack of 
water supply. 6-inch and 4-inch diameter lines were constructed in 
Al-Hashimi Al-Gharbi Quarter and Mafraq (The Southern Quar-
ter). 
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Amounts collected From the illegal usage cases vs billing amounts for such cases
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Water Losses

The rate of the technical and administrative loss of water at the 
level of the four governorates was approximately 44% in 2017. 
This rate increased to 45.3% at the end of 2018, with a difference 
of 1.3% of the total quantity of the produced water. To illustrate 
this, the increase is about 7 million m3 of fresh water, which would 
cover 12.5% of the total water supply to Irbid Governorate for one 
year, for instance. The total amount of non-revenue water at the 
level of the governorates is 44 million m3, resulting in the loss of 
19.4 million Jordanian dinars suffered by the Company according 
to the financial data of the fiscal year 2018.
The “technical” and “administrative” factors are responsible for 
water losses. The technical factor refers to the causes that lead to 
water wastage due to wear and tear of the distribution network in 
a certain area. Other causes of wastage, within the technical fac-
tor, are the cleaning of the transmission lines, the maintenance of 
the reservoirs, and source meter inaccuracies. The administrative 
factor includes cases of water theft by people who illegally link 
their property to the distribution network. Therefore, the amount 
of water consumed prior to the discovery of that is regarded as 
non-revenue water. Also, this factor includes the quantities of wa-
ter distributed free of charge to beneficiaries according to the es-
tablished system.
At present, the staff members of the Company are highly quali-
fied, scientifically and technically, and fully equipped with modern 
devices needed for handling the causes of water wastage. As the 
Company is in the process of developing a specialized unit to deal 
with water losses administratively and technically, this unit will be 
provided with a mobile laboratory equipped with the necessary 
equipment for leak inspections in the networks.
Below are the most important actions that have been taken and 
will contribute to water loss reduction: 
1. Replacement of broken meters: Launching a campaign to seal 

meters, changing the old method of sealing with a new one, 
using a VIN number that prevents meter tampering, entering 
data to the system, and intensifying inspection campaigns on 
illegal water use.

2. Developing a new method for disconnecting water services 
to subscribers tampering with meters: Keeping the meter in 
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Irbid Governorate
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Estimated water consumption of non-metered NRW

Ajloun Governorate

15.51%0.02%

34.47%

50.00%

Water supply Water sold
Estimated water consumption of non-metered NRW

Jerash Governorate
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Reduction of Water Losses

The amount of water losses is calculated by an equation (standard 
formula) that is the result of subtracting the quantity of water sold 
from the quantity of water produced. To get the rate though, the 
result is divided by the “quantity of production”. The Company 
hopes that the level of loss calculated under the above-mentioned 
equation (formula) will be below 38% in 2020. The Company 
strives to achieve that objective, and accordingly, reach an accept-
able level that will enable it to further develop the service and meet 
the population needs in all service areas.
On the one hand, the Company owns a relatively old water net-
work that remains the cause of water wastage, and, on the other, 
there are causes of a different nature, such as the cases of illegal use 
of water. It is not a technical issue for which immediate solutions 
can be developed and implemented. Rather, it is an issue with-
in the scope of awareness, responsibility and the mindset of those 
who violate the applicable law.

Water Loss Ratio

The high rate of water losses in Jordan is unacceptable. The reasons 
for that rate are wear and tear of water distribution networks and 
other technical and administrative factors. The amount of water 
losses is a key indicator for measuring the performance and effi-
ciency of the management of water systems in states. Reducing the 
quantity of water wastage is an important factor in reducing the 
financial burden [of the Company] and increasing the per capita 
share of water.
Water wastage is the difference between the quantity of water sup-
plied from the source through the water system, which includes 
transmission lines, reservoirs, and distribution networks to cities 
and different communities, and between the quantity of water that 

its position sealed without removing it from the place where 
it was installed, since removing it may enable subscribers to 
reconnect water services, which would increase non-revenue 
water.  

3. The actual reading of meters: Not issuing invoices based on 
discretionary readings even if that required visiting a certain 
location more than once during a certain billing cycle.

4. Rapid response to maintenance and repair cases: This reduces 
water losses. It also builds confidence in carrying on develop-
ing new means to prevent water losses.

5. Improving networks and replacing the damaged parts with 
new ones, whether in the main or transmission lines.

6. Controlling the water pressure automatically in the distribu-
tion network so that it is reduced at night and returns to nor-
mal during the day.

7. Taking meter readings in wells and stations using ultrasonic 
flowmeters.

8. Collecting well productivity reports from all governorates and 
directorates in coordination with the Directorate of Informa-
tion to document readings on a Water Balance system.

9. Working on the BMFO (Bulk Meter Flow and Operations) 
system in coordination with the Information Center at the 
Ministry of Water and Irrigation.
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NRW 2017 - 2018
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is invoiced (actually sold to subscribers), which is measured by wa-
ter meters. That is to say, it is the difference between the supply and 
the volume of consumption measured by meters.
Water loss is divided into two types. The first type, the technical 
loss, is caused by technical factors, and defined as the amount of 
water lost due to technical breakdowns and to wear and tear of 
the networks, partially because of use for many years. Increased 
water pressure by pumping also reduces the operating life of these 
networks. Technical losses also include quantities of water lost 
through visibly or invisibly broken parts in water networks. The 
second type of water loss is the administrative loss, which refers to 
the amount of water lost as a result of several reasons, including the 
illegal use of water by subscribers, malfunctions of meters, failure 
to repair or replace them, and failure to read meters to determine 
the actual water consumption and sometimes resort to estimation 
instead.
Currently, the rate of water loss in Jordan is estimated at about 
48%. This is a high ratio, which means that about half of water 
production is wasted and produces no revenues. In countries with 
high efficiency in water sector management, this percentage of wa-
ter loss ranges from 15% to 20%.

Quality of Drinking Water

Groundwater, known for its high quality and low salinity com-
pared to other sources of water available in the Kingdom, is the 
main source of supplying drinking water to the governorates. 
Pumped from local wells, this water partially meets the needs of 
consumers. Water supply is supplemented by other means such as 
the water tankers provided by the Company for remote areas with 
low population density.
Figures indicate that the quality of drinking water the service ar-
eas are supplied with meets Jordanian standards. This makes it a 
reliable source for meeting the needs of direct drinking [from the 
source].
The Company conducts periodic checks on its main and subsidiary 
reservoirs. However, this does not include the tanks of subscribers, 
as the responsibility for checking these tanks lies with the subscrib-
er himself. Water tests are also conducted at other key points in 
the transmission line, the production areas, and the internal distri-
bution network. Field inspection/testing is carried out at the site 
where the sample is taken according to a specific schedule that may 
change from time to time. Tests on the sample that require special 
equipment are conducted in the Company’s laboratories, though.

Quality Specifications

Given the sensitivity of water services, the Company conducts 
hundreds of tests on water samples collected periodically. Most of 
these tests are carried out in the Company’s laboratories, yet some 
are conducted in the Water Authority’s laboratories in the capital, 
Amman. The tests conducted by the Company on fresh water in its 
laboratories and in the central laboratories of the Water Authority 
include the minimum and maximum values of the specification, 
and the test results of any of them. This is a recurring process that 
is not subject to circumstances nor based on coincidence. The 
Company conducts approximately 8048 annual tests on 6419 
samples collected from many sites. All this is to ensure that the wa-
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ter delivered to the subscriber’s property meets the known human 
consumption conditions and standards. The Company is not the 
only place where the laboratory tests for drinking water quality are 
conducted. Other authorities such as the Ministry of Health and 
the Water Authority conduct their own tests on drinking water to 
make sure it fulfils certain requirements.  

Laboratory Tests 

Based on the importance of maintaining water quality, the Com-
pany’s Directorate of Laboratories controls the various water 
sources of springs and wells, in addition to water supply systems 
including water sources, pumping stations, reservoirs, water distri-
bution networks, and water meters. The best means of control and 
environmental monitoring are adopted to ensure the safety of the 
consumer by monitoring the quality of water, its physical charac-
teristics, and any chemical and microbial contaminants in it, under 
the requirements of the Jordanian Drinking Water Standard No. 
286/2015 and the microbiological standards for the quality of raw 
water and drinking water sources for the year 2011.
To preserve the environment, the Directorate of Laboratories mon-
itors the quality of the reclaimed water from the wastewater treat-
ment plants in the four departments of the Company and assess-
es its compliance with the Jordanian Standard Specification No. 
893/2006 according to aspects of end-use, through the application 
of the routine program, quarterly evaluations of the mechanical 
plants, as well as the semi-annual evaluations of the natural sta-
tions.
 To ensure the safety of the treated water in water treatment and 
desalination plants, to maintain the continuity of pumping safe 
water, and to reduce the operating costs in the Company’s depart-
ments, the Directorate of Laboratories follows up the maintenance 
and operating conditions of the treatment stages in all stations, 
and evaluates the quality of water in each stage as well as the final 
product, within the operational and routine control programs. 

Types of Tests
1. Laboratory Analysis Department

Chemical Laboratory – Drinking Water 
The chemical laboratory determines the physical and chemi-
cal characteristics of the different drinking water sources and 
ensures that they comply with the Jordanian Drinking Wa-
ter Standard No. 286/2015 for maintaining the continuity of 
supplying safe drinking water to consumers. This can be real-
ized through conducting the following drinking water tests: 
• Conducting tests on the following determinants in 

drinking water samples:
pH: A test that measures water pH and water alkalinity. 
If the pH level exceeds 8.5, water becomes unfit for hu-
man consumption. Water is alkaline if it is higher than 
8.5  on the pH scale, and it is acidic if it is below 6.5 on 
the pH scale.
Total Dissolved Solids (TDS): A test that measures the 
purity of water in terms of the amount of dissolved salts 
in it. If the amount of dissolved salts in water is higher 
than the acceptable rate, it can cause many problems in 
the industries that use it.
Nitrates (NO3): A test that measures the purity of water 

in terms of the amount of nitrate levels in it. If that ele-
ment is found to be above the acceptable rate in water, it 
becomes unusable for drinking. The source of this sub-
stance is human and animal waste that has been in the 
aquatic environment for a long period of time.
Turbidity: A test that measures the percentage of im-
purities in water. In light of that percentage, the dosage 
rates required for the disinfection or purification of water 
can be increased or decreased, as germs can spread in the 
molecules of water if turbidity levels are high in it.
Ammonia (NH4): A test that measures ammonia levels 
in water, caused by some external factors that affect water 
and cause pollution such as human and animal waste. 
Water shall be contaminated if the test results show that 
ammonia levels are equal to or higher than 50 mg/l. 
Electrical Conductivity (EC): A test that measures the 
salinity of water by measuring its ability to carry an elec-
trical current.
Water Hardness: A test to measure the composition of 
mineral salts in water, mainly calcium (Ca+ 2) and mag-
nesium (Mg+2) besides some dissolved salts of bicarbo-
nate and sulfate.
Volatile Organic Compounds (VOCs): are volatile 
chemicals that are harmful to human health and the en-
vironment. Keeping these volatile organic compounds 
under control is critical to the health and safety of em-
ployees and to the protection of the environment.
The following tests should also be conducted: (TH, 
Cl, SO4 CN, ABS, B, NO2, F, Br, AL, Color, PO4, 
SiO2, Ba, LSI, THMs)

• Conducting Measurements of Heavy and Rare Metals: 
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This aims to ascertain the level of concentration of cer-
tain minerals in drinking water, such as magnesium, iron, 
calcium, zinc and copper, since the high concentration of 
these minerals may be detrimental to human health, let 
alone other problems such as unpleasant odor emissions.

• Test of Odors in Drinking Water

2. Water Quality Department
The Department of Water Quality performs the following 
functions: 
• The development of water quality control programs per-

taining to all water sources before and after treatment 
and to water distribution networks, under the require-
ments of the Jordanian Drinking Water Standard No. 
286/2015 and the microbiological standards for the 
quality of raw water and drinking water sources for the 
year 2011. Sample collection, preparation and numbers, 
as well as the required laboratory tests [are carried out] 
according to the quality of the water sources, which are 
classified as follows:
a. Groundwater Sources:

– Protected sources.
– Sources exposed to external surface contami-

nants.
– New sources or re-operating sources after sus-

pension for more than 6 months.
b. Treatment plants, pumping stations and booster.
c. T. Public reservoirs.
d. Networks [and microbial sampling based on popula-

tion distribution quota for each region].
e.  Transmission lines [and checking new lines and net-

works constructed by contractors].
• Collecting samples in accordance with the above-men-

tioned programs and distributing them to laboratories 
according to the sample request for analysis showing the 
source of the sample, the date of collection, the required 
tests, the field tests conducted in each round, and the lab 
sample collectors. 

• Monitoring and evaluating the quality of drinking water 
and comparing the results with the requirements of the 
Jordanian Drinking Water Standard No. 286/2015 and 
with the microbiological standards for the quality of raw 
water and drinking water sources for the year 2011. 

• Assessing water quality and addressing relevant officials 
to take corrective action to maintain safe drinking water, 
within the requirements of the Jordanian [Drinking Wa-
ter] Standard.

• Following up on the complaints of citizens and contam-
ination cases related to water networks, finding out the 
reasons for that, and issuing technical reports including 
the immediate corrective actions required by the opera-
tors to ensure the safety of drinking water.

• Conducting field surveys of water sources to ensure the 
commitment of all bodies concerned with the protection 
of water sources through the implementation of protec-
tion instructions and preventive and corrective measures.

3. Department of Environmental and Sewage Treatment 
Plant Monitoring
1. This department monitors the treated domestic waste-

water at the sewage stations and evaluates their efficiency 
according to the requirements of the Jordanian Standard 
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No. 893/2006. It also monitors any pollutants to avoid 
their impact on surface water and groundwater, in ad-
dition to the surrounding environment, with an aim 
to maintain public health. To achieve that goal, special 
monitoring programs are developed and implemented.  

2. Monitoring and evaluating the quality of reclaimed water 
and comparing the results with the requirements of Jor-
danian Standard No. 893/2006.

3. Preparing quarterly and semi-annual reports on the qual-
ity of reclaimed water, and addressing the concerned 
parties to take the necessary corrective measures related 
to safe water production for reuse purposes, within the 
requirements of the Jordanian Reclaimed Wastewater 
Standard so as to protect the surrounding environment.

4. Department of Desalination
This department was attached to the Directorate of Labora-
tories in April, 2015 in order to control the operation of the 
treatment and desalination plants in an integrated manner in 
terms of field operational conditions, laboratory results of raw 
water, the different stages of treatment, the quality of treat-
ed water, its effects on facilities, and the mechanism of safe 
disposal of the rejected water resulting from the treatment 
process. 
The functions of this department are summarized as follows:
a. Preparation of preventive and routine maintenance pro-

grams for (23) treatment and desalination plants operat-
ing in the Company’s departments based on the above, in 
addition to ensuring the provision of necessary chemicals 
and consumables for each plant.

b. Follow-up of the material balance of consumables and 
preparation of requests for tenders upon demand (a 
three-month balance of consumables).

c. The operational follow-up (, on a daily basis, in field and 
laboratory conditions,) of all stages of treatment and of 
the rejected water.

d. Preparation of the technical specifications for the rehabil-
itation, maintenance and development of the treatment 
systems commensurate with the quality of water and the 
objectives of the Company to optimize efficiency and 
produce sufficient quantities [of water], at the lowest op-
erating costs.

e. Preparation of the technical specifications for the design 
of treatment plants for the poor quality water sources, 
which are recognized as non-traditional water sources.

f. The number of microbial samples and conformity ratios:
1. 13310 different samples were collected and 27329 

chemical, microbiological and biochemical analy-
ses/tests were conducted during 2018, compared to 
15807 samples collected and 30603 analyses/tests 
conducted in 2017.

2. The distribution of samples and laboratory analyses 
among laboratory divisions was as follows:
– 11752 physical and chemical analyses were con-
ducted on 3386 samples in the Chemical Analysis 
Laboratory.
– 12587 microbiological analyses were conducted 
on 9544 samples in the Microbiological Laboratory.
– 3017 biochemical analyses were conducted on 
380 samples in the Biochemical Analysis Laboratory.

3. The overall monthly average of all samples received 
by the Department of Laboratory Analysis was 1109 
samples/month in 2018, compared to 1317 samples 
received in 2017, and the monthly analysis rate was 
2277 analyses/month, compared to 2550 analyses in 
2017.
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Customer Service

Invoice issuance 
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Quarterly collection percentage 2018

1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter 4th Quarter
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customer counts in water sector
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340,792
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304,558
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The Consumer Service Department issues quarterly consumer wa-
ter invoices for all consumption sectors. The number of invoices 
amounts to more than one million invoices for the relevant period. 
This department is in charge of the collection of bills for billing 
cycles. In all cases and over the previous periods, the rate of bill col-
lection was 89% of the billing values of each relevant cycle, which 
is considered low according to set criteria. 

In addition to service, billing, and collection responsibilities, the 
Customer Service Department works to reduce water losses result-
ing from cases of illegal water use in the network. The number 
of these cases dropped to 1226 in 2018, compared to 1320 cases 
in 2017. The Company relies on accurate readings of the meters 
of subscribers. Bill estimation is only allowed in cases of inacces-
sibility of the locations of meters in the property of subscribers. 
However, this estimation must be within the average range, and 
the deviation rate should not exceed 5%.

The department provides its services to subscribers, as desired, in 
terms of reducing to the minimum the time taken to perform ser-
vices, including the new subscription services and connecting the 
property to the network. The performance of the department will 
be further enhanced by the development of the Company's web-
site, which will provide many electronic services to the public such 
as form filling, balance inquiry, and invoice printing.
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Water supply & water sales (MCM, 2018)

Irbid Governorate Ajloun Governorate North Nadia
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Invoicing and Bill Collection

Water bills are issued to most of the subscribers after the end of the 
quarter of the billing period/ cycle, and after reading the water me-
ters of subscribers. This takes about 30 days for all 341 thousand 
subscribers in the four governorates. This means that water con-
sumption bills for the first quarter of the year (January, February, 
and March), for example, arrives in the month of May, and that 
April represents the period for meter readings for the first quarter.  

The Company issues more than a million bills annually, distribut-
ed to subscribers in governorates on a timely basis. The so-called 
system X7 was introduced in 2018 for the purpose of bill issuance. 
This system also serves all relevant processes related to subscribers 
such as bill collection, issuance of debit and credit notices, making 
accounting adjustments, and any other services of interest to sub-
scribers. The Customer Service Department is responsible for the 
management of that system, as well as addressing all issues related 
to the public. Whereas invoicing is predominantly time-bound, 
bill collection is a continuous process taking place all the time. It 
is a sustained activity carried out by a division under the umbrella 
of the Customer Service Department in charge of bill collection. 

Bill collections in 2018 amounted to approximately 29 million Jor-
danian dinars, whereas sales for the same period of time reached 33 
million Jordanian dinars. In return for the efforts of the employees 
assigned to collect the outstanding receivables, the Company reg-
ularly rewards them in the form of specific monetary incentives 
paid periodically.

The water quantity currently being sold will change in the future, 
as the number of population in the service area is increasing, and as 
investors, service, tourist and commercial centers impose volatile, 
ever-changing realities that differ from year to year. To address that, 
the Company is obliged to meet the requirements of fresh water 
supply and sanitation services for all subscribers, and in all areas 
within its service area. This situation requires it to anticipate the 
demand for its services, deliver them in a timely manner, and ful-
fill the relevant terms of the agreements concluded. Note that the 
Company has been doing all that since its inception. 

Cost Recovery

The operating expenses for 2018 amounted to approximately 71.5 
million Jordanian dinars, compared to the direct water sales reach-
ing 33 million Jordanian dinars for that year. In other words, if 
there had not been any “other” revenues, such as fees for sanitation 
access (connecting to the sewerage network), subscription fees, 
connection/access fees, and other revenues included in the income 
list in the financial data at the end of this report, the Company 
would have made more losses than stated in this report.  

In summary, for a company that manages water and sanitation sec-
tors, the foregoing means that work within a water tariff or price 
assigned to water supply by government authorities that could rely 
on subsidies from the public treasury to manage that sector would 
not lead to satisfactory financial results. The Company's audited 
data for 2018 is a good example.
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The annual collection rate recorded by this department [the Cus-
tomer Service Department] decreased to 89% during 2018, com-
pared to 99% in 2017. The collection rate varies from quarter to 
quarter. In 2018, it was as follows:
First Quarter 103%, Second Quarter 71%, Third Quarter 100%, 
Fourth Quarter 84%
There was no significant change in the number of employees in this 
department during 2018. However, it maintained its performance 
at an increasing pace. The “response rate” decreased from 2.4 hours 
in 2017 to 1.5 hours in 2018. It also dealt with 1226 cases of illegal 
water use in that year, resulting in issuing financial claims worth 
327657 Jordanian dinars, most of which were collected later. To 
reward that effort, all employees in the Customer Service Depart-
ment receive incentives not given to others in the Company, in or-
der to encourage them to continue improving their performance. 
In 2018, they earned 100 thousand Jordanian dinars in the form 
of collection incentives and tampering prevention.
The number of customer objections to the value of invoices issued 
totaled 8632 cases during 2018. All were handled within an aver-
age time of less than 14 days.

Water Tariff

When pricing water, the Company must abide by the applicable 
government tariff by virtue of the agreements governing its op-
erations in the service area. Issued by the Water Authority after 
obtaining the approval of the Cabinet of Ministers, the tariff deter-
mines the price of the cubic meter of water. Customer invoices in-
dicate the price in accordance with the tariff in force at the time of 
bill issuance. Since this tariff gradually increases in price according 
to water consumption in the “household sector”, which encourages 
the rationalization of the consumption of fresh water, the price var-
ies according to the category of the consumed quantity of water in 
the subscriber’s household property. However, the standard pricing 
applies to business-sector subscribers.  

The tariff for the non-domestic (business) category is called “uni-
fied tariff” and is calculated at a fixed price of one dinar per cubic 
meter of water consumed according to meter readings. Half a dinar 
per each cubic meter of water consumed is added to the bill for 
sanitation services. The minimum bill is calculated on the con-

sumption of 5 cubic meters per quarter.

For household use categories, including houses, places of worship, 
and non-profit charities, the tariff is based on the principle that 
the price is directly proportional to the amount of consumption. 
The minimum bill is calculated on 20-cubic-meter consumption 
per quarter. This tariff in its present form was issued by the Water 
Authority in 1998 after obtaining the approval of the Cabinet of 
Ministers. Since then, it has become the applicable tariff through-
out the Kingdom.

In line with the requirements of the water situation in the region, 
the Company encourages all water consumers in the service area 
to rationalize water use. In this regard, it spends a lot on aware-
ness-raising programs for citizens and business owners in the city 
of Irbid, where consumption constitutes about 56% of the total 
fresh water needs in the four governorates. In addition, the Com-
pany distributes brochures meant to raise awareness of people such 
as housewives and business owners about water use.
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Water Sector Workforce 

The number of workers in the water sector is 957 distributed in 
all relevant facilities, namely the distribution network, reservoirs, 
main and secondary transmission lines, pumping stations and 
wells, in addition to other electronic and mechanical support ser-
vices in the field.

Scientifically qualified staff members were recruited to work for 
the operating sector. They manage the water testing laboratories 
that conduct tests on drinking water at all stages of processing. 
Relevant reports on water quality, types of analysis and number of 
tests are issued.

Besides their basic salaries, employees in the water sector receive 
benefits related to the nature of the work they perform. This sector 
holds the majority of the Company's assets, including the supply 
wells, the transmission lines, the distribution networks, the collec-
tion and distribution tanks, the pressure reducers, and the associat-

ed assets related to the operation of the supply system. Therefore, 
almost all the Company's assets serve the core functions of the 
Company, most notably operations management.

There are no universal criteria against which the Company can test 
the outcome of its operations. Whatever the case, these assets are 
essentially, and for the most part, assets transferred from the Water 
Authority, whose ownership has not yet been determined. In addi-
tion to the aforementioned assets, the sector owns mobile/movable 
assets in the form of a number of vehicles, machinery and equip-
ment that support the operation of the sector and help it perform 
its functions.

The Company does not have an accurate register of its assets, but 
an assessment of these assets took place in 2018. However, the as-
sessment results have not been transferred to the Company's re-
cords, as a decision has yet to be made on the fate of the assigned 
assets.
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Sector Performance Indicators 

Although it is important to achieve improvements from year to 
year, perhaps it is more essential though to reach or exceed certain 
expectations recognized globally and locally.  

All administrative, operational and financial operation activities 
come up with figures that measure the actual performance of 
an activity and compare it with set standards. If the figures for 
the actual performance outcomes are deviating from standard 
performance, the staff concerned are required to improve that 
performance, to meet or exceed standards in the future. The 
Company is collaborating with the concerned parties to issue the 
“Performance Standards Handbook” for Yarmouk Water Com-
pany. This will include the agreed “benchmarks” for measuring 
actual performance through application of a scientific methodolo-
gy firmly established over time.

When published, this handbook will include the operating, finan-

cial and administrative standards (benchmarks) to be met. This 
will help measure the performance of an institution operating in 
the water and sanitation sectors in accordance with these stand-
ards. This, being a reference, the first of its kind in the region, will 
serve the purposes of upgrading the level of operation, measuring 
performance, and setting a benchmark for comparing the actual 
performance with the desired performance.

This is a useful tool for dealing with this aspect to avoid mak-
ing judgments that are not based on established facts. This will 
provide space for all relevant bodies in the water and sanitation 
sectors to compete with each other and to meet or exceed per-
formance standards, which will reflect positively on the service 
provided to the public. It will also create a climate of general 
satisfaction with these bodies that will follow modern working 
methods to serve the audience.

It is entirely obvious that all of the Company's field and central 
departments working in the water and sanitation sectors make 
significant progress from year to year. This progress, however, is 
normal and required, yet it is not regarded an achievement.

As regards water sector management, the response time to emer-
gency calls has decreased. The ability of the working staff to deal 
with preventive and corrective maintenance has improved, and 
the number of the complaints of subscribers has decreased. 

In terms of subscriber services, the response time has been 
reduced to the minimum. The transactions of subscribers are 
processed in a much faster way due to the Company’s adherence 
to the requirements of providing fast service. Objections to meter 
readings and billing have decreased. Collection on the periodic 
and monthly sales and the time period for collecting the out-
standing debts have improved significantly.

The ability of staff to cope with both types of maintenance 
improves from year to year. The maintenance teams of the Water 
Directorate dealt with approximately 125 thousand maintenance 
cases during 2018, which included all categories of breakdowns, 
emergencies, breakages and leakages.

This improvement is due to the accumulated experience of 
the staff, as well as the increase in the number of workers with 
specialization in the tasks entrusted to them. Part of the credit is 
also due to the Company’s expansion in the provision of facil-
ities, equipment and machinery necessary for the performance 
of the sector. Last year, much equipment was purchased for the 
follow-up teams, water loss teams, water connections teams and 
others.
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Sewer Sector
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Sewer Sector
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The Disposal and Reuse of 
Wastewater

The sanitation sector is as important as the drinking water sector, since it is the sector that provides the service of 
ridding the region of its waste and keeps the environment intact. Not only does it treat wastewater generated from 
different uses, but it also allows reuse of treated wastewater, instead of freshwater, for agricultural and industrial pur-
poses. The responsibilities of this sector differ from those of the water sector, depending on the nature of the service 
it provides. Its functions are to receive and treat wastewater loads, and to maintain and keep the system operating 
effectively.

The wastewater sector is one of the important sectors that supply 
water resources with other non-traditional resources and contrib-
ute to improving the environment and raising the level of health in 
the Kingdom. Therefore, this sector has received the attention of 
the Water Authority in terms of keeping pace with growth and de-
velopment, especially as the number of population is increasing be-
cause of multiple migrations, which has required developing strat-
egies, projects and services, including sanitation services, to cope 
with the new reality. Water supply of all kinds entails dealing with 
water after use. Thus, wastewater is discharged through connec-
tions linked to the sewage network carrying it to the purification 
plants for treatment and for ridding of the various types of organic 
and chemical impurities and natural and industrial contaminants. 
The freshwater supply network is completely separate from the 
wastewater discharge network. They are separated from each other 
according to recognized equations and procedures. However, they 
are complementary in terms of providing indispensable services in 
modern societies with strong infrastructures that enhance the pro-
vision of these services, along with other vital services such as elec-
tricity and telecommunications. The wastewater discharge network 
serves the goal of ridding the consumer of the amount of water 
dumped. Without this network, the management of the disposal 
of wastewater will be the responsibility of the consumer himself, 
either by resorting to “absorption pits”, whose content leak into 
the ground, therefore contaminating everything around them, in-
cluding the reserves of fresh groundwater, or by building, at his 
own expense, his own wastewater purification plant. However, the 
latter option normally suits big industries since it is expensive to 
implement, not to mention the existing regulations that prevent 
the pollution of the environment and groundwater resources, and 
that require wastewater treatment in accordance with agreed inter-
national standards and practices. It is clear from the above that the 
existence of a wastewater discharge network in any populated area 
justifies the establishment of an integrated sewerage system. It is a 
public service system that meets the vital and indispensable need of 
all individuals in modern societies.
The sanitation network consists of transmission lines, connected 
to the networks, which carry wastewater to the purification plants, 
where wastewater is treated by filtering and purifying from impuri-
ties and contaminants, and other transmission lines for the treated 
water to be carried to different destinations. To achieve this, there 
is a technical and administrative cadre qualified to manage the sys-
tem in the desired manner, maintain its far-flung parts, and sustain 
its full-time service. 
Yarmouk Water Company has a wastewater discharge network 
(sanitation network) of approximately 143 km, distributed over 
the four governorates, whose loads are poured into wastewater 
treatment plants built at different locations to cover the needs of 
the service areas. The establishment of other stations and transmis-
sion lines have been initiated, and further improvements to the 

current public network have been made, to raise the level of service 
delivery, in terms of quality, coverage and efficiency, to where it is 
now, since the sanitation network serves 41% of water subscribers. 
Each subscriber requests access to water supply has to be connect-
ed to sanitation services if his property is located in an area covered 
by the sewerage service.
The construction of the sewage network (sanitation network) was 
accompanied by the establishment of 11 wastewater treatment 
plants, the oldest of which was Jerash Station built in 1984, Cen-
tral Irbid Station built in 1986, and the Ar-Ramtha Station built in 
1987, followed by Mafraq station established in 1988. All of them 
still perform their services due to ongoing upgrading.

The SCADA (Supervisory Control and Data Acquisition) system 
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controls all the operations of the purification plants. Information 
is collected from different locations and displayed appropriately 
on a screen. Data is linked to each other through the main control 
unit or through secondary control units. The SCADA system has 
the ability to store information on a database for easy reference, 
when needed. In addition to its main control and sub-control 
units, the system consists of software that enables the operator to 
interact with it. 
The activities of the Wastewater Services Department include the 
maintenance of the transmission lines of wastewater leading to the 
purification plants and that of the lines that carry the reclaimed 
water to different destinations, as well as the maintenance of the 
distribution network. To perform its functions, the department 
has all required equipment, including tanks, equipment for han-

dling blockages, pressure pumps, and personal protective equip-
ment. Due to the age of the network and the nature of the mate-
rials used in construction, the Company within its plan replaces 
parts of the network where necessary, and periodically maintains 
it and manholes through specialized teams prepared and equipped 
for this purpose, which reduces the complaints of subscribers.   
The purification plants generally operate in two ways, the first of 
which is the “natural way”, which means exposing wastewater ac-
cumulated in large basins intended for this purpose to the prevail-
ing weather conditions of sunlight, oxygen, and temperature, for a 
period of time. The organic material is oxidized naturally and de-
posited in the bottom of the pond, keeping clean water in the top 
layer. The second of these methods is the “mechanical” method, 
called technically “activated sludge”. That is the removal of what is 
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suspended in the wastewater by mechanical and chemical means of 
decomposition of the organic loads by micro-organisms under ap-
propriate conditions of temperature, pH, and the oxygen required 
to complete the process. The process is divided into several stages, 
starting with wastewater receipt from the sanitation network, and 
ending with supplying the treated water through the reclaimed wa-
ter distribution network.  

Sanitation services

The four governorates have access to sanitation services. However, 
some areas have no access to sanitation. Absorption pits or cesspits 
are used for disposal of wastewater mainly generated from water 
consumption in these areas. The total length of the sewage network 
(wastewater discharge network) in the four governorates is about 
143 km. It serves a population of about 2.7 million people residing 
in the four governorates. Therefore, the service delivery rate to sub-
scribers is about 99% of the population in the service areas.

Operating Purification Plants

Ash-Shallalah Station: A mechanical plant, established in 2013, 
which serves a population of 163 thousand in the areas of East-
West Irbid, Al-Hisn/Al-Husn, Huwwarah, Saal/ Sal, Bushra/ 
Bishra, Edun/Aidoon and As-Sarieh.
Irbid Center Station: A mechanical plant established in 1986 and 
upgraded in 2016. It serves a population of about 140 thousand 
in the city of Irbid.
Wadi Al-‘Arab Station: A mechanical plant established in 1999. 
Among the other stations in the four governorates, Wadi Al-‘Arab 
Station serves the largest service area of a population of 202 thou-
sand inhabitants. This area includes South, North and West Irbid, 
Soum [Sawm], Dowgarah, North-East Irbid, South-West Irbid, 
Zabda, Natfeh, Beit Ras, and the Industrial Zones in North-East 
Irbid. 
Ar-Ramtha Station: A mechanical plant established in 1987 and 
upgraded in 2004. It serves about 114 thousand inhabitants in 
Ar-Ramtha.
Wadi Hassan Station: A mechanical plant established in 2001, 
serving a population of about 22 thousand inhabitants in the areas 
of Katam, Shatana, An-Nu‘aymah, and Azmi Al-Mufti Camp. 
Kafranjah Station: A mechanical station established in 1989 and 
upgraded in 2016. It serves a population of about 97 thousand in-
habitants in the areas of Anjarah, Kafranjah, Ayn Janna, and parts 
of the center of Ajloun.
Al-Mir’ed Station: A mechanical plant established in 2011. It 
serves a population of approximately 113 thousand inhabitants 
in the areas of Riimoon, Kattah, Nahlah, Skaab, Gaza Camp, 
Al-Manshiyya, and Haddadah.
East Jerash Station: A mechanical plant established in 1984 and 
upgraded in May, 2018. It serves a population of about 118 thou-
sand people in the city of Jerash, Souf, Deir Al-Layyat and Souf 
Camp.
Mafraq Station: A semi-mechanical plant established in 1988 
and upgraded in 2015. It serves a population of approximately 82 
thousand people in the city of Mafraq.

Communities that do not have access to sanitation services are 

served by the Company’s sewage tankers, which carry their loads 
of wastewater to natural purification plants (North Shounah and 
Al-Akiider Wastewater Treatment Plants).
Due to the high cost of connecting to the network, the subscriber 
pays part of that cost in accordance with the calculation formula 
followed in this regard, which was issued by the Water Authority, 
(which the Company is committed to, like all other facilities of 
activity management in the Kingdom). This cost covers the cost of 
connection (subscription), and that of continuous service (utiliza-
tion). The first is paid once for the connection application, while 
the second is paid periodically throughout the period of subscrip-
tion to sanitation services and is included in the water bills issued 
regularly.
The service of connecting the subscriber’s property to the wastewa-
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ter collection network in the serviced areas is not optional. Upon 
completion of the construction of a sewerage network in any area 
and upon its actual operation, property owners have to connect 
their property to it.

Wastewater and Reclaimed Water 

Used fresh drinking water becomes wastewater when discharged 
into the Company’s sewage networks (sanitation networks) and 
ultimately reaches wastewater treatment plants for processing. 
The reclaimed water is not supplied to subscribers without going 
through all stages of purification and meeting the set requirements 
and specifications. This water can then be used for certain purpos-

es, excluding human or animal use. The public are warned not to 
get closer to wastewater collection sites. Such water may be found 
in a given area as a result of a breakage in the transmission line 
or a flooded manhole because of solid materials or other reasons. 
Wastewater is detrimental to health, especially when it enters the 
blood of humans or animals through wounds. This is because it 
carries microbes living in such an environment, including enta-
moeba histolytica causing amoebiasis, ascaris lumbricoides caus-
ing ascariasis, and ancylostoma. The latter are considered intesti-
nal parasites that live in sewage and cause death, according to the 
World Health Organization.
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The red lines represent the updating on the sewerage network

Quality Control

Of the priorities of the Company’s laboratory and quality control 
staff is to ensure that the treated water conforms to the approved 
standard specifications before being pumped through the distri-
bution networks for use in the authorized areas. To achieve that 
goal, [the Company] conducts, within an integrated water safety 
program, all the required laboratory tests on the quality of waste-
water coming to and leaving the wastewater treatment plants to 
guarantee that the quality produced meets in the end the Jordanian 
standard for water treated by the natural and mechanical methods.

The following section briefly lists the most important laboratory 
tests conducted by the Company on wastewater and reclaimed wa-
ter. Tests are not only required for the reuse of reclaimed water, but 
they are also required for health and environmental necessities in 
the area where wastewater is left, to be then transferred to the treat-
ment plant, to be purified to ensure it does not contaminate the 
environment, spread diseases, and cause harm. The Company’s lab-
oratories are responsible for carrying out many tests and sampling 
from all sources of water to ensure that water complies with the 
approved specifications. In the event of contamination in any area, 
the type and source of contamination must be determined and 
solutions must be designed to preserve and maintain public health.

Laboratory Tests

The Company conducts hundreds of scheduled tests and it main-
tains a database for reference, when needed. Immediate action is 
taken if the test results show that the tested water does not meet 
standards or specifications. Reports on the results of the tests car-
ried out on a daily basis are submitted to the persons concerned 
for action. This is the standard procedure followed in this regard, 
which cannot, under no circumstances, be ignored by any employ-
ee who is entrusted to perform. 

Ammonia (NH4): It measures the level of wastewater pollution 
with nitrogen as ammonia at the inlet and outlet of the plant with 
a view to its disposal. Depending on that level, the amount of ox-
ygen to be pumped into the aeration tanks to eliminate nitrogen is 
determined. It is one of the standards used to measure the efficien-
cy of the purification plants.

Nitrates (NO3): It measures the level of wastewater pollution with 
nitrogen in its nitrite formula at the inlet and outlet of the plant 
with a view to its disposal. Depending on that level, the amount of 
oxygen to be pumped into the aeration tanks to eliminate nitrogen 
is determined. It is one of the standards used to measure the effi-
ciency of the purification plants.

BOD: It measures the level of wastewater pollution with organic 
matter at the inlet and outlet of the plant. Based on the level of 
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pollution, the amount of oxygen to be injected by the saturation 
devices, which the bacteria need in order to oxidize the organic 
pollutants, is determined. The test result indicates the efficiency 
level of the plant in the disposal of pollutants in general.

COD: It measures the level of wastewater pollution with organic 
matter at the inlet and outlet of the plant. Based on that level, 
the amount of organic and chemical substances to be oxidized by 
biological and chemical methods is determined. The test result in-
dicates the efficiency level of the plant in the disposal of pollutants 
in general.

Total Suspended Materials (TSS): It measures the amount of sol-
ids, organic and inorganic, in the wastewater entering the plant for 
treatment and in the reclaimed water coming out of it for use. The 
difference between the two readings indicates the efficiency level 
of the station.

Total Nitrogen (TN): It examines the total amount of nitrogen 
in the wastewater entering and exiting the purification plant. It is 
used for determining the amount of oxygen needed to treat and 
get rid of nitrogen.

Total Dissolved Salts TDS: It examines the amount of total dis-
solved salts in the wastewater entering the plant and in the re-
claimed water coming out of the plant. It is used for making deci-
sions related to forest plantations and green areas.

pH: It tests the pH of the reclaimed water coming out of the pu-
rification plant. In light of the test result, the amount of chemicals 
needed for pH control is determined to bring the measured pH 
within a desired range.

Turbidity: A test intended to verify the degree of turbidity in water 
coming out of the purification plant to ensure it does not contain 
impurities affecting its quality.

The Sanitation Sector Workforce

The number of employees in this sector is 249 workers distributed 
to utility services, namely the collection network, main and sec-
ondary transmission lines, lifting stations and purification stations, 
in addition to other supporting mechanical, electronic, and elec-
trical services.

Water testing laboratories are run by a scientifically qualified staff 
who conduct tests on wastewater and reclaimed water at all stages 
of processing. Relevant reports on water quality, types of analysis, 
and number of tests are issued by the staff.

Employees in this sector receive an additional benefit of 40 Jorda-
nian dinars per month in addition to the basic salary paid for them 
as is the case in the sewage sector in the Kingdom.
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Financial Report

Types of main expenses 

Electricity Employee benefits O&M

2018
2017

12.8

18.6

30.6

12

19.9

39.6

The Company's revenues for the year 2018 amounted to about 44 million Jordanian dinars, distributed on (1) 
direct revenues representing the billing value of the water sales to the subscribers and the fees of sewage services, 
and on (2) other indirect revenues related to the values of revenue from sources that are not directly related to the 
Company’s core activities. The direct revenues are growing exponentially with the increase in the growth rate of the 
population of Irbid Governorate in particular. This growth rate is about %3 per annum. The Company's expenses 
are distributed on (1) direct expenses represented in the value of the electric power consumption in the operation of 
the water distribution system, wastewater treatment plants, salaries of employees, as well as other items falling under 
the category of “direct expenses” according to the Financial Policy of the Company; and on (2) indirect expenses 
represented in the administrative staff salaries and other items under this classification.

As is the case with respect to revenues, the main expenses for the 
year 2018 represented in the expenses of electricity consumption 
and the salaries of employees in particular increased, compared to 
previous years. The rate of increase in the total expenses for the year 
2018 was about 19% due to the aforementioned reasons. Realized 
losses for 2018 totaled about 44 million Jordanian dinars, which 
constituted 99.6% of the total revenues for the year. Therefore, the 
rate of operating income was zero.
The Company does not aim achieving profits or returns on the 
capital invested. Instead, its primary goal is to make profits that 
can ensure continuity and meeting financial obligations towards 
creditors, capital expenditures, and current expenses. However, 
this has not really been possible for the whole period from 2011 to 
the end of 2018.
Over the past years, the Company's has suffered from a cash short-
age. This has created a situation where the Company has been un-
able to meet the operating requirements in the desired manner and 
to pay back its accumulated debts. 

Fixed Assets 

The Assignment Agreement (AA) stipulates that the Water Author-
ity shall transfer to the Company the assets operating in the service 
areas in the four governorates. However, this has not entailed the 
preparation of accounting entries in the financial records of the 
Company to date, even though the Assignment Agreement con-
cluded between the Water Authority and the Company in 2010 
requires that the assets of the Company be transferred to the Com-
pany as an independent entity, necessitating the recording of the 
values of the assets in the Company’s records and removing them 
from the Water Authority’s records, or the making of a decision 
by the Board of Directors of the Water Authority to do what is re-
quired in this regard. The bulk of these assets consists of the water 
distribution network, transmission lines, and wastewater treatment 
plants. Over years, the values of these assets have increased due to 
the addition of the value of the projects granted by international 
bodies. Accordingly, the book values of the assets at the date of 
purchase or transfer of any of them is approximately 1 billion Jor-

danian dinars distributed throughout the service areas.

Company’s Financial Position 

The current assets shown in the audited financial statements rep-
resent 19% of the total assets of the Company, and are divided 
into several items, the most important of which are: the value of 
the inventory of materials at the end of the year, totaling 5 million 
Jordanian dinars; accounts receivable amounting to 21 million Jor-
danian dinars; and cash in banks worth 1.4 million dinars. On the 
balance sheet liabilities, this corresponds to short-term liabilities 
of 141 million Jordanian dinars, distributed among the electrici-
ty companies’ combined dues of 126.6 million Jordanian dinars, 
with an increase of 40% over 2017, and other accounts payable 
amounting to 6.1 million Jordanian dinars. The long-term liabili-
ties are mainly the non-current portion of the French loan of 17.3 
million Jordanian dinars, in addition to the accounts of the owner, 
the Water Authority.



71

Gross revenues vs gross expenses (Million JOD)

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018
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Net loses (Million JOD)

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

-43.7

-36.63

-25.65
-22.7

-17.53
-12.99

-18.48

-11.91

Revenues 

Revenue in the accounting records of the Company is divided 
into direct revenues, which are the prices of water sold and the 
like, and indirect revenues, representing all other revenues such as 
grants, subsidies and the like. The growth rate of direct reve-
nue was 12% for 2018, compared to 2017. It was 0% for 2017 
compared to 2016. This is a direct result of the increase in the 
amount of water supply which reached 90.6 million cubic meters 
in 2018 and 88.9 million cubic meters in 2017. That amount, 
after reducing the amount of water lost, was sold to consumers 
for a total amount of 31.4 million Jordanian dinars in 2018 and 
for 27.3 million Jordanian dinars in 2017. This amount barely 
reaches 53% of the total of the electricity and salaries accounts for 
2018, not to mention the 36% of the total expenses, which 

Expenses 

The proportion of expenses for 2018 increased by 15% over 
2017. These expenses consist mainly of electricity expenses and 
salaries, besides other direct expenses. The total value of expenses 
in 2018 amounted to approximately 71.6 million Jordanian di-
nars, which constituted 228% of the value of water revenues, and 
in 2017 it was 62 million Jordanian dinars, representing 227% 
of the value of water revenues for that year. These proportions for 
two consecutive years mean that costs are rising steadily and are 
more than twice the annual revenue generated from the price of 
water.
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Cost recovery percentage
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Losses

Although the amount of water sold in 2018 was 2% higher than 
that in 2017, losses in 2018 were 19% higher than those in 2017. 
That is partially due to the increase in the expenses of both varia-
ble and fixed types of expenses, specifically those occurred in the 
electricity tariffs in 2018. In addition, there are the rectifications 
recommended by the External Auditor for 2018.
Losses for 2018 amounted to 43.7 million Jordanian dinars, equal 
to the total revenues for that year. Realized losses for 2018 included 
2.5 million Jordanian dinars for doubtful debts, and 3.5 million 
Jordanian dinars for impairment of inventory. The cumulative loss-
es since the Company issued its first audited financial statements 
in 2011 and until the end of 2018 totaled about 200 million Jor-
danian dinars. Which is of 34.3 million Jordanian dinars per year 
generated from operations, an annual rate of losses of 25 million 
Jordanian dinars during the period.

Two important remarks emerged from the above:
• The amount of the annual realized loss increases from year to 

year, which is caused by the increase in the volume of expend-
iture on operations, in the forefront of which are electricity 
expenses, whose tariffs rise from time to time.

• The price of water sold to consumers does not cover the op-
erating expenses that are 2.25 times the price of water sold. 
Water revenue alone contributes to 36% of the total expenses 
for 2018. This ratio will decrease in the future if expenditures 
continue to rise.

Contribution Margin and Cost Recovery

The rate of revenue per cubic meter of water price in 2018 amount-
ed to 0.80 Jordanian dinars, compared to 1.54 Jordanian dinars for 
direct expenses for that cubic meter. This means that the contribu-
tion margin per cubic meter of water sold was (- 0.74) Jordanian 
dinars, which means that this revenue does not cover the direct 
expenses associated with production, not to mention other fixed 
expenses.

Cost Recovery

The Company cannot do much in terms of revenue to improve its 
cost recovery indicator. It follows the Water Authority's tariff of 
water sold to subscribers in the service areas, which is a stable price. 
This is offset by the rising costs that the Company spends to deliver 
water to subscribers. The ratio of total costs to revenues is doubled 
(199.6%), as shown in the income statement for 2018. In contrast, 
the Company is working to improve the actual meter reading rate, 
rather than the estimate, where possible, which will have a positive 
impact on the values of revenue, as a direct result of the volume of 
billing larger quantities of water, besides other factors such as the 
reduction of the direct and indirect expenses.

The cost recovery ratio for 2018 decreased to 50% down from 51% 
in 2017. This comprehensive ratio indicates that revenue is less 
than 100% of the total expenses, which will definitely be reflected 
in the form of realized losses. Compared to 2018, 50% (below 
100%) of total expenses means that the Company needs to double 
its revenue, or to halve costs, both of which cannot be achieved in 
the foreseeable future for many considerations, though.

Cash Flow

A cash balance equal to 1.4 million Jordanian dinars deposited 
in current accounts with several banks was closed in 2018. The 
increase in the balance was only 0.3 million Jordanian dinars 
from the beginning of that period. In other words, the amount of 
collection in that year, which was about 29.4 million Jordanian 
dinars, was used to offset the Company's obligations of every 
kind. 
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Yearly accounts receivable balance (Million JOD)
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Yearly financial performance (Million JOD) 
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The main source of cash inflow to the Company is the activity of 
collecting accounts receivable dues from subscribers. The balances 
of these accounts increase from one year to the next, as the col-
lection rate is less than 100% of the annual billing amount. This 
has led to the situation of the Company since its inception with 
regard to the permanent cash deficits over time, which stands 
in the way of the Company's ability to meet its operational and 
administrative obligations, not to mention its capital expenditure 
needs.

Receivables 

The total value of the past dues of the accounts receivable of six 

months and more as of the end of 2018 totaled 31.6 million Jor-
danian dinars, while at the end of 2017 was about 30.4 million 
Jordanian dinars. That is to say, the balance increased by 4% over 
the previous year. Accordingly, the External Auditor has increased 
the allowance for doubtful accounts balance by 10.8 million 
Jordanian dinars (in compliance with IFRS 9 (an International 
Financial Reporting Standard), to be adopted as of the beginning 
of 2018). In light of that, the net balance of this account at the 
end of 2018 was approximately 20 million Jordanian dinars.

Mahmoud Barham
The Acting Director of Finance
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To The Owner of
 Yarmouk Water Company
Limited Liability Company
Irbid-The Hashemite Kingdom of Jordan

Qualified Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Yarmouk Water 
Company (Limited Liability Company),   which comprise 
the statement of financial position as at December 31, 2018, 
and the statement of comprehensive income, statement of 
changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year 
then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including 
a summary of significant accounting policies.
In our opinion except for the effects of the matters described 
in the basis for qualified opinion paragraph,  the accompany-
ing financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, 
the financial position of the Company as at December 31, 
2018, and of its financial performance and its cash flows for 
the year then ended in accordance with International Finan-
cial Reporting Standards (IFRS). 

 Basis for Qualified Opinion

•  The company's management did not provide us with de-
tailed statements for property and equipment amounted 
JD 119,855,409 as at December 31, 2018. In addition, 
we neither could verify the accuracy of  depreciation ex-
pense calculation nor its ownership.

We conducted our audit in accordance with International 
Standards on Auditing. Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the Auditors' Responsibil-
ities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our 
report. We are independent of the Company in accordance 
with the International Ethics Standards Board for Account-
ants' Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA 
Code) together with the ethical requirements that are rele-
vant to our audit of the financial statements, and we have 
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with 
these requirements and the IESBA Code. We believe that the 
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for our qualified opinion.

Independent Auditor's Report 
105180606

Emphasis paragraph

Referring to the General Assembly meeting of Yarmouk Wa-
ter Company held that was held on November 4, 2014, it 
was decided to count and transfer all assets of Yarmouk Wa-
ter Company and projects transferred from donors in the 
name of Yarmouk Water Company to the Water Authority. 
This decision was not executed to date.

Other matters

We would like to refer to note (18) in the financial state-
ments regarding the audit of the financial statements of the 
previous year that was done by another public accountant

Material uncertainty to continue as go-
ing concern.

With reference to note no. (8) of the financial statements that 
the company’s accumulated losses amounted  JD 45,515,911 
which represents % 109.032 of Company’s registered capi-
tal as at December 31, 2018.  According to Article (75) 
of Jordanian Companies law No. 22 for year 1997 and its 
amendments [If the Company’s losses amount to three quar-
ters of its capital, the Company shall be liquidated unless 
the General Assembly decides in an extraordinary meeting 
to increase the Company’s capital to deal with the losses or 
quench it in accordance with the accredited International 
Accounting and Auditing Standards, provided that the total 
of the remaining losses do not exceed half of the Company 
is capital in both cases I  Such meeting was not held in this 
regard until the date of the report.

Responsibilities of Management and 
Those Charged with Governance for 
the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair 
presentation of the financial statements in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such 
internal control as management determines is necessary to 
enable the preparation of financial statements that are free 
from material  misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, management is re-
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sponsible for assessing the Company’s ability to  continue 
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related 
to going concern and using the going concern basis of ac-
counting unless management either intends to liquidate the 
Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alterna-
tive but to do so.
Those charged with governance are responsible for oversee-
ing the Company’s financial reporting process.

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit 
of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and 
to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. Rea-
sonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a 
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Inter-
national Standards on Auditing will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from 
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually 
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis 
of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with International Stand-
ards on Auditing, we exercise professional judgment and 
maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We 
also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of 
the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, 
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those 
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and ap-
propriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk 
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from 
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud 
may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to 
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the pur-
pose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Company’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used 

and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and re-
lated disclosures made by management.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use 
of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on 
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncer-
tainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast 
significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue 
as a going concern. If we conclude that a material un-
certainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our 
auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the finan-
cial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to 
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the 
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ 
report. However, future events or conditions may cause 
the Company to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and con-
tent of the financial statements, including the disclo-
sures, and whether the financial statements represent 
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that 
achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance re-
garding, among other matters, the planned scope and tim-
ing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any 
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify 
during our audit.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory 
Requirements

The Company has proper accounting records which are, in 
all material respects, consistent with the accompanying fi-
nancial statements, accordingly, we recommend to approve 
these financial statements by the general assembly. 
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Statement of financial position as at December 31, 2018

Notes 2018 2017

ASSETS JD JD
Non-current Assets

Property and equipment 3 119,855,409 118,766,774
Total Non-current Assets 119,855,409 118,766,774

Current Assets

Inventory 4 4,987,187 9,373,105
Trade receivables 5 14,423,206 24,127,608
Accrued and uncollected revenues 6,563,325 4,005,418
Other debit balances 6 80,309 537,071
Cash and cash equivalents 7 1,368,822 1,137,487
Total Current Assets 27,422,849 39,180,689

TOTAL ASSETS 147,278,258 157,947,463

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Capital 1 50,000 50,000
Accumulated losses 8 (54,515,911) (36,625,206)
Deficit in Equity (54,465,911) (36,575,206)

Non - Current Liabilities

Owner's payable 9 41,974,441 67,941,516
Related party payable 9 1,225,573 889,579
Loan - non-current 10 17,330,326 19,245,955
Total Non - current Liabilities 60,530,340 88,077,050

Current Liabilities

Loan 10 1,019,431 _
Trade payables 11 132,675,080 100,409,212
Other credit balances 12 7,519,318 6,036,407
Total Current Liabilities 141,231,829 106,445,619

Total Liabilities 201,744,169 194,522,669

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIBILITIES 147,278,258 157,947,463

The accompanying notes constitute an integral part of these financial statements
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 Statement of comprehensive income for the year ended December 31, 2018

Notes 2018 2017

Revenues JD JD

Water sales 31,444,262 27,345,361

Sewerage and drainage fees 3,636,659 3,293,722

Sewerage tax 3 % 3,370,769 2,548,425

Water subscription and connection fees 1,750,866 2,155,005

Other revenues 1,499,593 1,610,111

Currency difference 896,198 _

Grants 13 390,325 726,847

Water sales by tanks 338,060 898,115

Meters sales for subscribers 240,760 302,959

Sewerage subscription and connection fees 158,253 400,129

Water sales to Water Authority and related party 136,814 151,526

Total Revenues 43,862,559 39,432,200

Expenses

Operating and maintenance expenses 14 51,605,709 43,473,645

Salaries, wages and related benefits 19,947,394 18,561,985

Depreciation 9,071,728 8,109,873

Administrative expenses 15 680,906 702,375

Inventory impairment expense 3,500,000 _

Expected credit losses 2,545,272 2,500,000

Regulatory expenditures - Water Authority 188,530 179,586

Currency difference _ 2,474,239

Finance costs 27,525 55,703

Total Expenses 87,567,064 76,057,406

Loss (43,704,505) (36,625,206)

The accompanying notes constitute an integral part of these financial statements
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Statement of changes in equity for the year ended December 31, 2018

Capital Accumlated Losses Total

JD JD JD

Balance as at January 1, 2017  50,000  (25,654,255)  (25,604,255)

Quench of accumulated losses  _  25,654,255  25,654,255 

Loss  _  (36,625,206)  (36,625,206)

Balance as at December 31, 2017  50,000  (36,625,206)  (36,575,206)

Balance as at January 1, 2018  50,000  (36,625,206)  (36,575,206)

Effect of applying IFRS (9) as at December 31, 
2018

 _  (10,811,406)  (10,811,406)

Adjusted balance as at January 1, 2018  50,000  (47,436,612)  (47,386,612)

Quench of accumulated losses  _  36,625,206  36,625,206 

Loss  _  (43,704,505)  (43,704,505)

Balance as at December 31, 2018 Capital  50,000  (54,515,911)  (54,465,911)

The accompanying notes constitute an integral part of these financial statements
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Statement of cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2018

2018 2017

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES JD JD

Loss  (43,704,505)  (36,625,206)
Adjustments for:

Depreciation  9,071,728  8,109,873 
Inventory impairment expense  3,500,000  _ 
Expected credit losses  2,545,272  2,500,000 
Currency difference  (896,198)  2,474,239 
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Inventory  885,918  3,390,556 
Trade receivables  (3,652,276)  (366,554)
Accrued and uncollected revenues  (2,557,907)  872,424 
Other debit balances  456,762  (525,419)
Trade payables  32,265,868  25,622,498 
Other credit balances  1,482,911  (9,147)
Net cash from operating activities  (602,427)  5,443,264 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Additions to property and equipment  (10,160,363)  (13,818,919)
Net cash from investing activities  (10,160,363)  (13,818,919)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Owner's payable  10,658,131  10,110,340 
Related party payable  335,994  285,789 
Loans  _  (1,666,676)
Net cash from financing activities  10,994,125  8,729,453 

Net change in cash and cash equivalents  231,335  353,798 

Cash and cash equivalents - beginning of year  1,137,487  783,689 
Cash and cash equivalents - end of year  1,368,822  1,137,487 

INFORMATION ABOUT NON - CASH TRANSACTION

Quench of accumulated losses in owner's payable  36,625,206  25,654,255 

The accompanying notes constitute an integral part of these financial statements
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1. Legal status and activities

• Northern Governorates Water Administration (North-
ern water) was established in accordance with the Min-
ister of Water and Irrigation(s letter Number WMR 
1/14/1/1711 on July 22, 2001 which included adjust-
ments for the administrative organization instructions 
for the Water Authority of Jordan to establish a single 
administration unit for the Northern Governorates Wa-
ter  Administrations which includes Irbid, Jerash, Ajloun 
and Mafrak. The Northern Governorates is considered an 
independent administration operating on a commercial 
basis.

• The accounts of Northern Governorates Water Adminis-
tration were actually separated on January 1, 2002, and 
work was started on a commercial basis since that date 
according to the recommendations of the workshops 
which were held on July, 17, 18 and 25 of 2001, and ac-
cording to the letter No. SHM 7/2/17502 dated Septem-
ber 17, 2005 of Secretary General of the Water Authority 
of Jordan which referred to the letter No. 57/12/2/3037 
dated February 22, 2001 of his  Excellency Prime Min-
ister which included the approval to proceed with the 
tender procedures of the rehabilitation and awarding 
administration contract project for the Northern Gov-
ernorates Water.

• Council of Ministers approved in its session held on 
April 27, 2010 establishing "Yarmouk Water Company" 
which is wholly owned by Water Authority.

•  The Company was registered with Ministry of Industry 
and Trade as a limited liability company under number 
(22404) on July 26, 2010.

•  The Company main objectives are:
– Storage and distribute water sources.
– Water distribution.

2. Basis for preparation of financial statements and 
significant accountant policies

2-1 Basis for financial statement preparation
• Financial statements preparation framework

The financial statements have been prepared in ac-
cordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards.

• Measurement bases used in preparing the financial 
statements
The financial statements have been prepared on the 

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended December 31, 
2018

historical cost basis except for measurement of cer-
tain items at bases other than historical cost.

• Functional and presentation currency
The financial statements have been presented in Jor-
danian Dinar (JD) which is the functional currency 
of the entity.

2-2 Using of estimates
• When preparing of financial statements, manage-

ment uses judgments, assessments and assumptions 
that affect applying the accounting policies and car-
rying amounts of assets,  liabilities, revenue and ex-
penses. Actual result may differ from these estimates.

• Change in estimates shall be recognized in the pe-
riod of the change, and future periods if the change 
affects them.

• For example, estimates may be required for expected 
credit losses, inventory obsolescence, useful lives of 
depreciable assets, provisions, any legal cases against 
the entity.

2-3 Application of new and modified International Finan-
cial Reporting Standards

New and modified standards adopted by the entity
• International Financial Reporting standers no. (9).

IFRS (9) replaced “incurred losses” model under 
IAS (39) with “Expected credit losses” impairment 
model. 

The new impairment model require the entity to cal-
culate the expected credit losses and the changes in 
expected credit losses at each reporting date, in other 
words, its no longer require a credit event to have 
occurred before credit losses are recognized. 

IFES (9) require the entity to recognize expected 
credit losses on debts instruments measured at mor-
tised cost or at fair value through other comprehen-
sive income, but not for other debts instruments and 
equity investments which are subsequently measured 
at fair value through profit or loss.

• International Financial Reporting standards no. (15) 
“Revenues from contracts with customers”

International Financial Reporting Standard no. (15) 
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Issued on May 2014, which establishes a  compre-
hensive model for the use of accounting for revenues 
from customers, IFRS (15) replaces the guidance of 
current revenue recognition including IAS (18) “rev-
enues” and IAS (11) “construction contracts” and 
the related interpretations as of January 1, 2018.
The core principle of IFRS (15) is that an entity rec-
ognizes revenue to depict the transfer of promised 
goods or services to customers in an amount that 
reflects the consideration to which the entity expects 
to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. 
The standard present a five-step model to recognize 
revenue:
Step 1: Identify the contract (s) with a customer.
Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the 
contract. 
Step 3: Determine the transaction price
Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the perfor-
mance obligations in the contract.
Step 5: Recognize revenue when (or as) the entity 
satisfies a performance obligation.
According to IFRS (15) the entity recognizes reve-
nues when (or as) it satisfies a performance obliga-
tion by transferring “control” of the promised goods 
or services based on the specific performance obliga-
tion to the customer. More mandatory requirements 
have been added to the standard to deal with differ-
ent cases, and also the standard requires comprehen-
sive disclosures.

Standards and Interpretations issued but not yet effective

Standard or 
Interpretation 
No.

Description Effective date

IFRS (16) - 
New

Leases — all leases 
are being recog-
nized in the state-
ment of financial 
position, with-
out distinctions 
between operating 
and finance leases.

Jan 1, 2019 or 
after

IFRS 17 -New Insurance contracts. Jan 1, 2021 or 
after

IFRIC No. 23 Uncertainty over 
income tax treat-
ments.

Jan 1, 2019 or 
after

2-4 Summary of significant accounting policies
• Property and equipment

– Property and equipment are initially recognized 
at their cost being their purchase price plus  any 
other costs directly attributable to bringing the 
assets to the location and condition necessary 
for them to be capable of operating in the man-
ner intended by management.

– After initial recognition, the property and 
equipment are carried, in the statement of finan-
cial  position, at their cost less any accumulated 
depreciation and any accumulated impairment. 
Land is not depreciated.

– The depreciation charge for each period is recog-
nized as expense. Depreciation is calculated on 
a straight line basis, which reflects the pattern 
in which the asset’s future economic benefits 
are expected to be consumed over the estimated 
useful life of the assets using the following rates:

Category Depreciation 
rate

%
Water and sewerage distribu-
tion networks

5

Water wells 3.3
Pumps and motors 10
Various machinery and equip-
ment

6.7

Buildings 2
Power generators and electricity 
equipment

8

Vehicles and machines 15
Diesel generators 7
Water meters 12
Water tanks 3
Computers and software 20
Furniture 10
Drilling and machinery equip-
ment

10
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– The estimated useful lives are reviewed at each 
year-end, with the effect of any changes in esti-
mate accounted for on a prospective basis.

– The carrying values of property and equipment 
are reviewed for impairment when events or 
changes in the circumstances indicate the car-
rying value may not be recoverable. If any such 
indication of impairment exists, impairments 
losses are calculated in accordance with impair-
ment of assets policy.

– On the subsequent derecognition (sale or re-
tirement) of the property and equipment, the 
resulting gain or loss, being the difference be-
tween the net disposal proceed, if any, and the 
carrying amount, is included in profit or loss.

– Amount paid to build up property and equip-
ment are initially carried to projects under con-
struction account. When the project becomes 
ready for use, it will be transferred to property 
and equipment caption.

Impairment of non-financial assets
– At each statement of financial position date, 

management reviews the carrying amounts of its 
non-financial assets (property and equipment) 
to determine whether there is any indication 
that those assets have been impaired. 

– If any such indication exists, the recoverable 
amount of the asset is estimated in order to 
determine the extent of the impairment loss, 
if any, being the amount by which the carry-
ing amount of the asset exceeds its recoverable 
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher 
of asset's fair value less costs to sell and the value 
in use. The asset's fair value is the amount for 
which that asset could be exchanged between 
knowledgeable, willing parties in arm's length  
transaction. The value in use is the present value 
of the future cash flows expected to be derived 
from the asset.

– For the purpose of impairment valuation, assets 
are grouped at the lower level that have cash flow 
independently (cash generating unit), previous 
impairment for non-financial assets (excluding 
goodwill) is reviewed for the possibility of rever-
sal at the date of the financial  statements. 

• Inventories
– Inventories are measured at the lower of cost 

and net realizable value.
– Inventory costs comprise all costs of purchase, 

costs of conversion and other costs incurred in  
bringing the inventories to their present loca-
tion and condition.

– Net realizable value is the estimated selling price 
in the ordinary course of business less the es-
timated costs of completion and the estimated 
costs necessary to make the sale. 

– The cost of inventory is assigned by using the 
weighted-average cost formula.

• Financial instruments
Financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to 
a financial asset of one entity and financial liability 
or equity instrument of another entity.

– Financial assets
–  A financial asset is any asset that is:

a. Cash;
b. An equity instrument of another enti-

ty;
c. A contractual right to receive cash or 

another financial asset from another 
entity, or to exchange financial assets or 
financial liabilities with another entity 
under conditions that are potentially 
favorable to the entity.

d. A contract that will or may be settled 
in the entity’s own equity instruments.

– Financial assets are initially measured at fair 
value plus, in the case of a financial asset not 
at fair value through profit or loss, transac-
tion costs that are directly attributable to 
the acquisition of the financial asset, but for 
financial assets at fair value through profit 
or loss, transaction costs are recognized in 
profit or loss.

– Financial assets are classified to three cate-
gories as follows:
– Amortized cost.
– Fair value through other comprehen-

sive income.
– Fair value through profit or loss.

Financial liabilities
– A financial liability is any liability that is:

a. A contractual obligation to deliver cash or 
another financial asset to another entity, 
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or to exchange financial assets or financial 
liabilities with another entity under condi-
tions that are potentially unfavorable to the 
entity; or 

b. A contract that will or may be settled in the 
entity’s own equity instruments.

– Financial liabilities are initially recognized at fair 
value less transaction costs, directly attributable 
to the acquisition or issue of those liabilities, 
except for the financial liabilities classified as at 
fair value through profit or loss, which are ini-
tially measured at fair value.

– After initial recognition, the entity measures all 
financial liabilities at amortized cost using the 
effective interest method, except for financial li-
abilities at fair value through profit or loss which 
are measured at fair value and other determined 
financial liabilities which are not measured un-
der amortized cost method.

– Financial liabilities at fair value through profit 
or loss are stated at fair value, with any resulting 
gain or loss from change in fair value is recog-
nized through profit or loss.

Trade payables and accruals
Trade payables and accruals are liabilities to pay for 
goods or services that have been received or supplied 
and have been either invoiced or formally agreed 
with the suppliers or not.

Offsetting financial instruments
A financial asset and a financial liability are offset 
and the net amount presented in the statement of 
financial position when, and only when, an entity 
currently has a legally enforceable right to set off 
amounts and intends either to settle in a net basis, 
or through realize the asset and settle  the liability 
simultaneously.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash comprises cash on hand, current accounts and 
short term deposits at banks with a maturity date of 
three months or less, which are subject to an insignif-
icant risk of changes in value.

Trade receivables
– Trade receivables are non-derivative financial as-

sets with fixed or determinable payments that 
are not quoted in an active market.

– Trade receivables are stated at invoices (claims) 
amount net of allowance for expected credit 
losses which represents the collective impair-
ment of receivables. 

Impairment of financial assets
– At each reporting date, the Company assesses 

whether financial assets carried at amortized 
cost and debt securities at FVTOCI are cred-
it — impaired. A financial assets is “credit im-
paired” when one or more events that have a 
detrimental impact on the estimated future cash 
flows of the financial assets have occurred.

– The entity recognizers loss allowance for expect-
ed credit loss (ECL) on:

– Financial assets measured at amortized cost.
– Debt investments measured at FVOCI.
– Contract assets.
– The entity measures loss allowances at an 

amount equal to lifetime ECLs.
– Loss allowances for trade receivables and con-

tract assets are always measured at an amount 
equal to lifetime ECLs.

– When determining whether the credit risk of a 
financial asset has increased significantly since 
initial recognition and when estimating ECLs, 
the Entity considers reasonable and support-
able information that is relevant and available 
without undue cost or effort based in the entitys 
historical experience and forward looking infor-
mation.

– The entity considers a financial asset to be in 
default when:
• The client is unlikely to pay its credit ob-

ligations to the entity in full, without re-
course by the entity to actions such as re-
alizing security (if any); or —The financial 
asset is more than 360 days past due.

• Loss allowances for financial assets meas-
ured at amortized cost are deducted from 
the gross carrying amount of the assets.

– A financial assets is written of when there is 
no reasonable expectation of recovering the 
contractual cash flows. The entity write of the 
gross carrying amount of the financial asset is 
in case of, liquidation, bankruptcy or issuance 
of a court ruling to reject the claim for financial 
asset.
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Related parties
– Transactions with related parties represent trans-

fer of resources, services, or obligations between 
related parties.

– Terms and conditions relating to related party 
transactions are approved by management.

Provisions
– Provisions are present obligations (legal or con-

structive) resulted from past events, the  set-
tlement of the obligations is probable and the 
amount of those obligations can be estimated 
reliably. The amount recognized as a provision is 
the best estimate of the expenditure  required to 
settle the present obligation at the statement of 
financial position date. 

– Provisions reviewed and adjusted at each state-
ment of financial position date. If outflows, to 
settle the provisions, are no longer probable, 
reverse of the provision is recorded as income.

– If the entity expected to be reimbursed for a 
part or full provision, the reimbursement shall 
be recognized within assets, when it is virtually 
certain and its value can be measured reliably. 

– In the statement of comprehensive income, the 
expense relating to a provision may be  present-
ed net of the amount recognized for reimburse-
ment.

– Where the effect of the time value of money is 
material, provisions are discounted by using a 
currently pre-tax discount rate that reflect the 
risks specific to the liability, when using dis-
count any increase in provision is recognized as 
a financial cost over time.

Revenue recognition
– The entity recognize revenue from sale of good 

and rendering of service when control is trans-
ferred to the customer.

– Revenues are recognized based on consideration 
specified in contract with customer that expect-
ed to be received excluding amounts collected 
on behalf of third parties.

– Revenue is recognized when the invoice is is-
sued, water is delivered and accepted by the 
customer.

Water sales

Revenue from subscribers is recognized when water 
is delivered and a quarterly invoice is  issued to them. 
The fourth quarter revenue is estimated.

Grants
– Unrestricted grants that are receivable as com-

pensation for expenses or losses already incurred 
or for the purpose of giving immediate financial 
support to the entity with no future related costs 
are recognized in profit or loss in the period in 
which they become receivable.

– Restricted grants are recognized as income on 
a systematic basis over the periods in which the 
entity recognizes as expenses the related costs for 
which the grants are intended to compensate.

– Grants whose primary condition is that the 
entity should purchase, construct or otherwise 
acquire non-current assets are recognized as 
deferred income in the statement of financial 
position and transferred to profit and loss on a 
systematic and rational basis over the useful lives 
of the related assets.

– Government loans and other subsidies at a be-
low — market rate of interest is treated as a gov-
ernment grant.

Borrowing costs
– Borrowing costs are interest and other costs that 

an entity incurs in connection with the  borrow-
ing of funds.

– Borrowing costs are expensed in the year in 
which they incurred.

• Contingent liabilities
– Contingent liabilities are possible obligations 

depending on whether some uncertain future 
events occur, or they are present obligations but 
payments are not probable or the amounts can-
not be measured reliably.

– Contingent liabilities are not recognized in the 
financial statements.
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4. Inventory 

This item includes a provision for inventory impair-
ment amounted JD 3,500,000 

5. Trade receivables
2018 2017

JD JD

Subscribers receivable (*) 42,865,113 39,267,670

Water tanks receivable 447,504 401,522

Other 100,361 91,510

Less: allowance for ex-
pected credit losses (**)

28,989,772 15,633,094

Net 14,423,206 24,127,608

(*) The following are aging of subscriber's receivable 
based on issued invoices:

2018 2017

JD JD 

1 - 90 days 6,996,306 3,957,846

91 - 180 days 4,240,855 4,948,375

181 - 270 days 3,032,380 2,930,988

271 - 365 days 2,644,105 2,334,542

1 - 2 years 7,590,260 6,426,222

2 years and above 18,361,207 18,669,697

Total 42,865,113 39,267,670

(**) Movement on expected credit losses for trade receiv-
ables during the year is as follows:

2018 2017

JD JD

Balance at beginning of 
year 

15,633,094 13,133,094

Effect of applying IFRS 
(9)

10,811,406                       
- 

Provided during year 2,545,272 2,500,000

Balance at end of year 28,989,772 15,633,094

6. Other debit balances
2018 2017

JD JD

Employees payable 69,091 89,843

Other 5,610 5,000
Work advances 4,050 8,550

Checks on hand 1,183 333,678

Prepaid expenses 375 -

Bank guarantees - 100,000

Total 80,309 537,071

7. Cash and cash equivalents

2018 2017

JD JD

Current accounts at 
banks - Jordanian Dinar 

1,359,612 1,137,487

Cash on hand 9,210 -
Total 1,368,822 1,137,487

8. Accumulated Losses
• Based on the meeting of the Extraordinary Gen-

eral Assembly of the Company held on June 28, 
2018 it was decided to quench accumulated losses 
amounting to JD 36,625,206 as at December 31, 
2017 from the owner payable, legal procedures were 
completed with the official authorities.

• The accumulated losses of the Company amount-
ed to JD 54,515,911 as at December 31, 2018 and 
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2018

JD

Sales 136,814

Purchases 472,808

f. Most of transactions with Water Authority are fi-
nancing and trading in nature.

2018 2017

Lender Current 
portion 

Non-cur-
rent 
portion 

Total Total 

JD JD JD JD

Govern-
ment of the 
Hashemite 
Kingdom of 
Jordan (*) 1,

01
9,

43
1

17
,3

30
,3

26

18
,3

49
,7

57

19
,2

45
,9

55

10. Loan

(*) This item represents the value of the loan granted to the 
company by the Government of the Hashemite Kingdom 
of Jordan on December 16, 2012, which was granted to the 

2018 2017
JD JD

Irbid Elictricity com-
pany 

71,063,134 45,693,857

National Eliectricity 33,078,627 22,339,725
Electricity Distribu-
tion company 

22,423,717 22,423,717

Suppliers payable 6,109,602 9,951,913
Total 132,675,080 100,409,212

according to the future plan set by the company’s 
management, it is in the process to quench these 
losses in the owner’s payable in 2019.

9. Related parties
a. Transactions with related parties consist of trans-

actions with partners and companies in which the 
partners have significant interests.

b. Owner payable represents Water Authority payable.
c. Related party payable represents Zarqa Water pay-

able.
d. Policies and terms regarding transactions with the 

owner (Water Authority) and related parties are 
approved by the management of Yarmouk Water 
Company. 

e. Details of significant transactions with related par-
ties that appear in the statement of comprehensive 
income as at December 31, 2018 were as follows: 

Government under the Protocol signed with the French 
Government on December 13, 2012, amounting to 22.8 
million Euros. The loan was granted under an interest rate of 
0.05% paid semi-annually from the date of each withdraw-
al and on the withdrawn and unpaid amounts of the loan. 
The company is committed to a period of 15 years including 
the grace period of 6 years to repay the principal withdrawn 
from the loan and any other amounts due under 18 equal 
semi-annual installments, the first installment is due on June 
16, 2019 and the last installment is on December 16, 2027.

. 11 Trade payables

12. Other credit balances
2018 2017

JD JD

Water subscription 
deposits 

3,494,182 3,273,118

Ministry of finance 
deposits 

2,394,854 2,206,158

Provident fund deposits 592,333                   -

Miscellaneous deposits 327,450 136,283

Social Security deposits 305,714                   -

Received from Subscrib-
ers in advance 

303,197 254,765

Contractors retention 52,473 52,473

Accrued expenses 49,115 113,610

Total 7,519,318 6,036,407
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13. Grants

2018 2017

JD JD

USAID grant 168,675 24,625

Japan International 
support and cooperation 
Agency grant 

69,047 5,944

Denmark grant 47,632 -

UNICEF grant 36,836 456,478

German reconstruction 
Bank grant 

35,845 239,800

Ministry of water and 
Irrigation grant 

30,735 -

Red Cross grant 1,555 -

Total 390,325 726,847

14. Operating and maintenance expenses

2018 2017
JD JD 

Electricity 39,649,375 30,624,565
Water purchases from 
private wells 

2,424,461 2,421,234

Water extract from wells 
fees 

1,798,902 1,713,561

Maintenance 1,318,128 2,308,236
Machines and vehicles 
expenses and rental 

1,226,633 1,598,037

Fuel 1,039,963 812,779
Security 963,785 758,000
Water desalination 799,333 1,091,604
Damage compensation 678,445 601,226
Chemicals 522,620 264,266
Water purchases from 
the water Authority and 
related party 

472,808 424,835

Transportation 395,122 506,042
Laboratory tests 239,224 187,435

Worker daily wages 70,439 34,589
Miscellaneous 6,471 3,236
Water consumption - 124,000
Total 51,605,709 43,473,645

15. Administrative expenses

2018 2017

JD JD

Electricity 191,484 181,307

Telecommunication 145,925 133,053

Rent 111,262 130,667

Cleaning 109,295 97,927

Maintenance 30,013 11,730

Stationery 26,439 74,788

Professional fees 22,528 24,378

Advertising 19,948 25,293

Government fees and 
subscription 

16,522 18,659

Bank interests 4,278 1,471

Hospitality 3,212 3,102

Total 680,906 702,375

16. Contingent liability
At the balance sheet date, the company has a contingent lia-
bility for a bank guarantee amounted JD 100,000.

17. Legal Cases
As stated in the company's legal counselor's letter, there 
are legal cases filed by others against the company amount-
ed JD 207,276 and other cases with undetermined value. 
And there is a legal case filed by the company against others 
amounted JD 1,500. These cases are still pending at the spe-
cialized courts.

18. Public accountant report for the year ended Decem-
ber 31, 2017

The beginning balances were audited by another public ac-
countant, who issued a qualified opinion on the financial 



91

statements on April 25, 2018. Regarding "the company 
had not provided us with detailed statements for property 
and equipment and therefore we were unable to verify the 
calculation of the depreciation expense for those properties 
amounting to 8 million Jordanian Dinars for the year ended 
December 31, 2017. Accordingly, we were unable to verify 
the net book value amounting to 124 million Jordanian Di-
nars as at December 31, 2017".

19. Risk management
a. Capital risk:

– Regularly, the capital structure is reviewed and 
the cost of capital and the risks associated with 
capital are considered. In addition, capital is 
managed properly to ensure continuing as a 
going concern while maximizing the return 
through the optimization of the debt and eq-
uity balance.

– The accumulated losses of the Company 
amounted JD 54,515,911 as of December 31, 
2018.

b. Currency risk:
– Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or 

future cash flows of a financial instrument will 
fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange 
rates. 

– The risk arises on certain transactions denomi-
nated in foreign currencies, which imposes sort 
of risk due to fluctuations in exchange rates 
during the year.

– Certain procedures to manage the exchange rate 
risk exposure are maintained.

c. Interest rate risk:
– Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or 

future cash flows of a financial instrument will 
fluctuate because of changes in market interest 
rates. 

– The risk arises on exposure to a fluctuation in 
market Interest rates resulting from borrowings 
and depositing in banks. 

– The risk is managed by maintaining an appro-
priate mix between fixed and floating interest 
rates balances during the financial year.

– The following table shows the sensitivity of prof-
it or loss and equity to changes in interest rates 
paid by the entity on borrowing from the banks: 

As of Decem-
ber 31, 2018

Change in 
interest

Effect on 
profit (loss) 
and equity

% JD

Loan 0.5 -91,749

d. Other price risk:
– Other price risk is the risk that the fair value or 

future cash flows of a financial instrument will 
fluctuate because of changes in market prices 
(other than those arising from interest rate 
risk or currency risk), whether those changes 
are caused by factors specific to the individual 
financial instrument or its issuer, or factors af-
fecting all similar financial instruments traded 
in the market.

– The risk arises from investing in equity invest-
ments.

– The entity is not exposed to other price risk. 

e. Credit risk:
– Credit risk is the risk that one party to a 

financial instrument will cause a financial loss 
for the other party by failing to discharge an 
obligation.

– Credit policies are maintained to state dealing 
with only creditworthy parties and obtaining 
sufficient collateral where appropriate, as a 
means of mitigating the risk of financial loss 
from defaults.

– Regularly, the credit ratings of debtors and 
the volume of transactions with those debtors 
during the year are monitored.

– Ongoing credit evaluation is performed on the 
financial condition of debtors.

– The carrying amount of financial assets re-
corded in the financial statements represents 
the maximum exposure to credit risk without 
taking into account the value of any collateral 
obtained

+
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f. Liquidity risk:
– Liquidity risk is the risk of encountering difficulty in 

meeting obligations associated with financial liabilities 
that are settled by delivering cash or another financial 
assets.

– Liquidity risk is managed through monitoring cash 
flows and matching with maturity dates of the financial 
assets and liabilities. 

– The following table shows the maturity dates of finan-
cial assets and liabilities as of December 31:

Less than one year One year and above 

             Description 2018 2017 2018 2017

      JD                                    JD JD JD

Financial assets:                                          

Trade receivables 14,423,206 24,127,608 - -

Accrued and uncollected 
revenues

6,563,325 4,005,418 - -

Other debit balances 76,934 537,071 - -

Cash and cash equiva-
lents 

1,368,822 1,137,487 - -

Total 22,435,287 29,807,584 - -

Financial liabilities:

Owner's payable -                                      - 41,974,441 67,941,516

Related party payable -                                        - 1,225,573 889,579

Loan 1,019,431 -   17,330,326 19,245,955

Trade payables 132,675,080                                                              100,409,212 - -

Other credit balances 7,216,121 5,781,642 - -

Total 140,910,632 106,190,854 60,530,340 88,077,050

20. Reclassification
Some of 2017 balances has been reclassified to conform with 
the classification used in 2018.
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Digital copy of this report 

is available on the below 

website of the company

www.yw.com.jo

 Yarmouk Water

Company

For inquiry, please contact 

any of the below numbers or 

addresses:

+962 2 727 5477

Info@yw.com.jo




